
 

Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg 
Lleoliad: 

Ystafell Bwyllgora 1 - Y Senedd 

Dyddiad: Dydd Iau, 22 Tachwedd 2018 

Amser: 09.15

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

Llinos Madeley 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddPPIA@cynulliad.cymru
------ 

Rhag-gyfarfod preifat  

(09.15 - 09.30) 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau 

(09.30)   

 

2 Adroddiad Blynyddol Comisiynydd Plant Cymru 2017-18 

(09.30 - 11.00) (Tudalennau 1 - 12)  

Sally Holland, Comisiynydd Plant Cymru  

Rachel Thomas, Pennaeth Polisi a Materion Cyhoeddus  

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

Briff Ymchwil 

CYPE(5)-33-18 – Papur 1 

Egwyl  

(11.00 - 11.15) 

3 Ymchwiliad i statws Cymhwyster Bagloriaeth Cymru – sesiwn 

dystiolaeth 3 

(11.15 - 12.00) (Tudalennau 13 - 24)  

Cymwysterau Cymru   

Philip Blaker, Prif Weithredwr  

Ann Evans, Cadeirydd 

Emyr George, Cyfarwyddwr Cyswllt   

  

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



Dogfennau atodol: 

Briff Ymchwil 

CYPE(5)-33-18 – Papur 2 (Saesneg yn unig) 

4 Papurau i'w nodi 

(12.00)   

 

4.1 Llythyr gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg a Gweinidog y Gymraeg a 

Dysgu Gydol Oes – gwybodaeth ychwanegol yn dilyn y cyfarfod ar 10 Hydref 

 (Tudalennau 25 - 81)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

CYPE(5)-33-18 – Papur i'w nodi 1 

4.2 Llythyr gan y Cadeirydd at Ymgyrch Hanes Cymru - Dysgu Hanes Cymru yn y 

cwricwlwm newydd 

 (Tudalennau 82 - 83)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

CYPE(5)-33-18 – Papur i'w nodi 2 

4.3 Llythyr gan Gomisiynydd Plant Cymru at y Prif Weinidog - Addysg yn y 

Cartref 

 (Tudalennau 84 - 86)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

CYPE(5)-33-18 – Papur i'w nodi 3 (Saesneg yn unig) 

5 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 i benderfynu gwahardd y 

cyhoedd o weddill y cyfarfod hwn 

(12.00)   

 

6 Trafod y dystiolaeth a ddaeth i law o dan eitemau 2 a 3 

(12.00 - 12.15)   

 



7 Craffu ar Gyllideb Llywodraeth Cymru 2019 - 2020 – trafod yr 

adroddiad drafft 

(12.15 - 13.00)   

Dogfennau atodol: 

Craffu ar Gyllideb Llywodraeth Cymru 2019 - 2020 – adroddiad drafft 

(Saesneg yn unig) 



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



CYPE(5)-33-18 – Papur 1  

 

 

Adroddiad Blynyddol Comisiynydd Plant Cymru: 

 

https://www.complantcymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Adroddiad-Blynyddol-2017-

18.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 12

https://www.complantcymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Adroddiad-Blynyddol-2017-18.pdf
https://www.complantcymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Adroddiad-Blynyddol-2017-18.pdf


Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 13

Eitem 3Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Qualifications Wales 
Q2, Pencarn Lane 
Imperial Park,  
Newport 
NP10 8AR 
 01633 373 222 

 

Cymwysterau Cymru 
Adeilad Q2, Lôn Pencarn 

Parc Imperial,  
Casnewydd 
NP10 8AR 

 01633 373 222 

CYPE(5)-33-18 – Papur 1  

 

Ms Lynne Neagle AM 

National Assembly for Wales  

Cardiff Bay  

Cardiff  

CF99 1NA 

 

By post and email: lynne.neagle@assembly.wales 

 

17 July 2018 
 

Dear Lynne 

 

We note the consultation that the Children, Young People and Education Committee has 

launched on the status of the Welsh Baccalaureate (Welsh Bacc).  We would like to take the 

opportunity to draw the committee’s attention to the work that we have recently 

conducted, as well as the work that we are planning, in relation to the Welsh Bacc. 

 

New versions of the Welsh Bacc at Foundation, National and Advanced levels were 

introduced for first teaching in September 2015 following recommendations made in the 

Review of Qualifications.  The design of the Welsh Bacc is now considerably different from 

its predecessor and has required significant change in practice within schools and colleges.   

 

We conducted an initial review of its introduction in autumn 2015 and published a first 

report in early 20161. When conducting the first review we decided to take a closer look at 

the design of the Skills Challenge Certificate (SCC)2 and how it is working in practice once 

the first assessments were complete. So, in February 2017, we commissioned Wavehill Ltd, 

in partnership with the Institute of Education at University College London to conduct a 

review of the design of the SCC and its place within the Welsh Bacc.  The research drew on 

a detailed analysis of the design of the SCC and evidence gathered from students, teachers 

and lecturers about their experience of studying and teaching the qualification.  We 

published the report and our response to its findings and recommendations in April 20183. 

We accepted all eight of the recommendations made in the report. Some of these are 

about supporting the current delivery of the SCC while others suggest possible future 

                                                           
1 http://www.qualificationswales.org/media/1631/qw-review-of-new-welsh-bacc-230316.pdf  
2 The Welsh Bacc is made up of the SCC and some supporting qualifications. The SCC can be awarded as a 

qualification even if a student does not achieve the necessary supporting qualifications to be awarded the Welsh 

Bacc.  An explanation of the SCC and its place within the Welsh Bacc can be found on our website, here 
3 http://www.qualificationswales.org/english/news/welsh-bacc-report-2018/  

Tudalen y pecyn 23

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTlm4RliBmhjXAvyw727EmA/feed
https://twitter.com/quals_wales
mailto:lynne.neagle@assembly.wales
http://www.qualificationswales.org/media/1631/qw-review-of-new-welsh-bacc-230316.pdf
http://www.qualificationswales.org/english/qualifications/welsh-baccalaureate/
http://www.qualificationswales.org/english/news/welsh-bacc-report-2018/


changes to its design.  In response to the recommendations, we are in the process of 

establishing a design group to develop proposals for how the structure, assessment and 

manageability of the SCC could be improved. The design group, comprising qualifications 

and assessment experts and representatives from Welsh Government, WJEC, Estyn and 

regional education consortia, will meet for the first time early autumn.  We will use a wider 

group of stakeholders, including students, teachers, employers and universities to refine 

and validate these proposals, including plans for how and when they could be 

implemented.  

 

The review identified the need to build greater understanding. This is not unexpected as 

the revised qualifications are new and innovative, and it takes time to build widespread 

awareness. In recognition of this, we are collaborating with WJEC and Welsh Government to 

raise awareness, and to improve the availability and clarity of information. Extensive and 

long-term communications will help build a clearer understanding, which will help build 

confidence and a greater understanding of the value of the SCC as evidence of the skills 

that have been developed; skills that employers regularly report as those that they are 

seeking in young people.  We are also working with WJEC on a programme of training and 

events to support those delivering the SCC.  

 

We have recently appointed a dedicated Higher Education Engagement Officer to our team 

to help explain the Welsh qualifications system, including the Welsh Bacc to Higher 

Education Institutions admissions officers and others. As well as improving understanding 

across universities, this new role will help us gather intelligence and feedback from the 

sector for us to share with others in the system in Wales.  Alongside this, we also plan to 

focus on building understanding among the business community, so that employers can 

clearly see the purpose and value of the Welsh Bacc.  

 

When considering the responses that you receive to the consultation we consider it 

important for you and the committee to be aware that the revised Welsh Bacc is still very 

new, so awareness levels are likely to be lower than desired. Equally there will be some 

schools that will find the delivery of something new and highly innovative very different to 

what they are used to. This is only to be expected and awareness and perceptions will 

change over time. 

 

We would welcome the opportunity to meet with you individually or with your committee 

to discuss the work that we have conducted and are planning in more detail.   

 

Yours sincerely 

   

Ann Evans   Philip Blaker 

Chair    Chief Executive  

cc to members of the Children, Young people and Education Committee  

Tudalen y pecyn 24



Kirsty Williams AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg 
Cabinet Secretary for Education 

Eluned Morgan AC/AM 
Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu Gydol Oes 

Minister for Welsh Language and Lifelong Learning 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 
CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 

0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Kirsty.Williams@llyw.cymru 
  Correspondence.Kirsty.Williams@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref MA-P/KW/3837/18 

Lynne Neagle AC 
Cadeirydd 
Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg 

12 Tachwedd 2018 

Annwyl Lynne 

Diolch am roi cyfle i ni fynychu’r Pwyllgor fel rhan o’i waith craffu ar faterion AB ac AU ar 10 
Hydref. Mae’r llythyr hwn ymateb i’r cais wnaethoch yn ystod y sesiwn am wybodaeth bellach. 

Yn gyntaf, fe wnaethom ni gytuno i rannu gyda’r Pwyllgor y targedau o dan y Cytundebau 
Lefel Gwasanaeth sydd gan Lywodraeth Cymru gyda darparwyr prentisiaethau preifat. Mae’r 
gwaith o gyflawni prentisiaethau yng Nghymru yn cael ei gaffael drwy dendr gystadleuol, 
agored. Ar hyn o bryd mae gan Lywodraeth Cymru gontractau gyda 19 o ddarparwyr arweiniol 
i gyflwyno’r Rhaglen Brentisiaethau. Maent yn cynnwys Sefydliadau Addysg Bellach, 
Darparwyr Hyfforddiant Preifat a Sefydliadau’r Trydydd Sector. 

Rhaid i bob darparwr sicrhau ei fod yn bodloni’r gofynion ym Manyleb y Rhaglen Dysgu 
Seiliedig ar Waith a dogfennau cysylltiedig wrth gyflwyno’i brentisiaethau (yn cynnwys 
Prentisiaethau Uwch). Y gyfradd gyflawni ofynnol gan y fframwaith ar gyfer Prentisiaethau 
Uwch yw 75%. Mae darparwyr yn cael eu monitro’n ofalus i sicrhau eu bod yn cyflwyno 
rhaglenni o ansawdd yn unol â gofynion y contract. Os bernir bod safon gwaith cyflawni’r 
darparwr yn anfoddhaol h.y. islaw’r trothwy perfformiad gofynnol, rhaid iddynt wneud y 
gwelliannau angenrheidiol. Os na fydd y gwelliannau hyn yn cael eu gwneud, neu os na 
fyddant yn cael eu gwneud o fewn amserlen resymol, mae Llywodraeth Cymru’n cadw’r hawl 
i derfynu’r contract gyda llai na 60 diwrnod o rybudd. 

Yn ail, fe ofynnoch am gopi o’r Adroddiad Annibynnol ar Lywodraethiant Partneriaethau 
Sgiliau Rhanbarthol yng Nghymru (Dr John Graystone, Mawrth 2018) sydd ynghlwm â’r llythyr 
hwn. 

Yn drydydd, fe wnaethom gytuno i ddarparu amserlenni yn dangos erbyn pryd y byddem yn 
disgwyl i’r gwaith gyda CCAUC a’r prifysgolion unigol ar eu cynllun gweithredu a dull strategol 
mewn perthynas ag iechyd meddwl gael ei gwblhau a’i weithredu. 

CYPE(5)-33-18 – Papur i'w nodi 1 

Tudalen y pecyn 25

Eitem 4.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Kirsty.Williams@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Kirsty.Williams@gov.wales


Mae gan bob prifysgol yng Nghymru amrywiaeth o ymyriadau a mentrau iechyd meddwl a 
llesiant ar waith yn barod i gynorthwyo myfyrwyr a staff. Yn ystod 2018-19 bydd CCAUC yn 
cyhoeddi cyllid ar gyfer prosiectau cydweithredol, rhanbarthol i wella sut mae sefydliadau’n 
mynd ati i gefnogi iechyd meddwl, yn cynnwys nodi arferion effeithiol. 
 
Mae gwaith CCAUC i ddatblygu ei Ddull Strategol mewn perthynas â llesiant ac iechyd 
meddwl yn parhau. Bydd y dull yn seiliedig ar gynlluniau gweithredu cysylltiedig, gyda’r cyntaf 
yn ymdrin â chefnogi myfyrwyr gyda’u hiechyd meddwl. Drafft yw’r dull ar hyn o bryd a bydd 
yn cael ei ystyried gan ei bwyllgor profiad myfyrwyr, SOAC, yn ddiweddarach yn y mis. Yna 
bydd gennym syniad gwell o’u hamserlen gyhoeddi. Mae’r amcanion strategol, fel y maent 
wedi’u drafftio ar hyn o bryd, yn cynnwys:  

o sicrhau ymrwymiad hirdymor i gynnal llesiant ac iechyd mewn addysg uwch; 
o llywio cynnydd a pherfformiad addysg uwch gyda chyngor seiliedig ar 

dystiolaeth a gwaith partneriaeth cryf;  
o hyrwyddo gwelliant parhaus ac arferion effeithiol mewn llesiant ac iechyd mewn 

addysg uwch; a 
o hyrwyddo cyfraniad addysg uwch at lesiant ac iechyd mewn addysg uwch. 

 
Mae’r cynllun gweithredu drafft sy’n cael ei gyd-greu yn cael ei ddatblygu mewn 
ymgynghoriad â Phrifysgolion Cymru, NUS Cymru, AMOSSHE Wales, cynrychiolwyr o grŵp 
prifysgolion a cholegau iach Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol ac Iechyd Cyhoeddus Cymru. 
 
Hefyd, mae CCAUC yn datblygu cyhoeddiad astudiaeth achos am brifysgolion iach fel rhan 
o’i gyfres Cenedl AU, a fydd yn cael ei lansio yng ngwanwyn/haf 2019, ac mae’n trefnu 
uwchgynhadledd prifysgolion iach yng Ngwanwyn 2019 i ddwyn ynghyd brifysgolion, 
myfyrwyr a phartïon eraill â diddordeb i fynd i’r afael â llesiant ac iechyd, yn cynnwys iechyd 
meddwl. Bydd eu canllaw ar y cynllun mynediad a ffioedd, a fydd yn cael ei gyhoeddi’n gynnar 
y flwyddyn nesaf, hefyd yn pwysleisio pwysigrwydd hyrwyddo prifysgolion iach a chynorthwyo 
myfyrwyr gydag iechyd meddwl i sicrhau cyfle cyfartal a hyrwyddo AU. 
 
Gobeithiwn fod yr uchod yn ddigonol, ond cysylltwch â ni os hoffech wybod mwy am unrhyw 
un o’r materion hyn. 
 
Yn gywir  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
Kirsty Williams AC/AM 

Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg 
Cabinet Secretary for Education 
 
 
 
 

Eluned Morgan AC/AM 

Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu Gydol Oes 
Minister for Welsh Language and Lifelong 
Learning  
 

 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 26

https://emea01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.amosshe.org.uk%2Fwhat-do-we-do&data=02%7C01%7Ccolette.eley%40gov.wales%7C298232ed5eb44728d5a208d63a79b751%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C636760691780713307&sdata=%2B%2BbRnf%2BSb93YypDoFIK12SgjDzX1D8kkXPuNhuX03SA%3D&reserved=0


27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

1 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Independent Report on the Governance 
of Regional Skills Partnerships in 
Wales 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr John Graystone, March 2018 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 27



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

2 
 

 
 
Contents 

 

Section 1 – Executive summary and list of recommendations 

Section 2 – Introduction 

Section 3 - Description of key regional and national skills organisations  

Section 4 – Comment and recommendations 

Section 5 – Conclusions 

References 
 
People interviewed (either face to face or by telephone) 
 
Initials and acronyms used in report 
 

Appendices 

 

Appendix 1 - Stated aims of two RSPs/GMW 

Appendix 2 - Regional Learning and Skills Partnership Board: 
                       terms of reference       

  
Appendix 3 - Identifying skills priorities in the other UK countries 
 
Appendix 4 - Membership of the three RSPs/GMW  

  

Tudalen y pecyn 28



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

3 
 

Section 1 – Executive summary and recommendations 

Executive summary 

1. An internal review of Regional Skills Partnerships (RSPs) carried out by the 
Welsh Government (WG) recommended that the WG should ‘carry out a review 
of RSP governance arrangements whilst recognising their existing independent 
arrangements’.......and ‘there should be a strengthening of the accountability of 
each RSP to WG, whilst maintaining independence’. (WG, 2017c).  

 
2. As a result, I was asked to consider the following:  
 
(i) Review the governance structures of the three Regional Skills Partnerships 

(North Wales Economic Ambition Board - RSP; Learning Skills and Innovation 

Partnership (LSkIP) and Regional Learning and Skills Partnership (RLSP)) and 

their alignment with City Deals / Growth Bid structures, including Growing Mid 

Wales (GMW), and identify how the accountability of each RSP to Welsh 

Government (WG) could be strengthened (if appropriate). 

 

(ii) Consider the remit and terms of reference of each RSP, including any 

Memorandum and Articles of Association with regional partners. 

 

(iii) Review the co-operation between the three RSPs, particularly regarding issues 

that are pertinent across Wales. 

 

(iv) Consider operating procedures such as frequency of meetings, membership 

and their accountability to senior structures (such as Economic Ambition 

Board).  

 
3. This report describes the governance and work of each of the three RSPs and 

Growing Mid Wales (GMW), comments on their governance arrangements and 
makes recommendations. These recommendations while aimed at WG are also 
directed at RSPs and GMW with the intention of improving their governance. It 
is of course up to WG whether some or all of these recommendations are 
conveyed to RSPs/GMW.  
 

4. GMW is not an RSP and its skills priorities are the responsibility of the RSP for 
South West and Mid Wales.  However GMW has an active board and is 
seeking to be established as a separate regional skills partnership. In this 
report when I am referring to all four bodies I have used the terminology 
‘RSPs/GMW’. When the word RSPs is used, it refers only to the three voluntary 
partnerships in South West and Mid Wales, South East Wales and North 
Wales.      
 

5. Those working for the RSPs were very enthusiastic about the contribution of 
RSPs in identifying and helping to meet skills priorities. There was general 
acknowledgement from all parties that RSPs had achieved a huge amount 
given their very tight resources and low levels of staffing. If increased 

Tudalen y pecyn 29



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

4 
 

responsibilities are delegated to RSPs, careful consideration needs to be given 
to the resources available to RSPs. At present WG allocates £150k in three 
instalments in arrears annually for each of the three RSPs to the Welsh Local 
Government Association (WLGA).  The WLGA passes on this funding to 
Carmarthenshire County Council (CC) for SW Wales and to Gwynedd CC for 
North Wales and acts as the accounting authority for SE Wales.  

 
6. The governance arrangements of the three RSPs/GMW have evolved 

differently but there are a number of common features. For example, each is a 
voluntary partnership with a private sector chair (in GMW there is a local 
authority chair) and with representation from employers although this is often 
through business representative organisations. There is no appetite for RSPs/ 
GMW developing a more formal legal structure or for a more standardised 
approach to governance.  

 
7. Without the support of the RSP’s managers/advisers, I would have found it a 

challenge to find detailed information about the work of each RSP, a point 
echoed by several stakeholders. A number of recommendations are therefore 
made about improving openness and transparency. Thus RSPs/GMW should 
draw up a publicly available schedule of meetings and RSP/ GMW board 
members should sign terms of reference which incorporate the Nolan standards 
of public life, as is currently done in RLSP and GMW. No proposal is made 
about the size of boards which varies from 21 to 33. It is recommended that 
RSPs/GMW continue to prioritise the appointment of the right calibre of Board 
members.   

 
8. There is a relatively high turnover of members and the number of those sending 

apologies to meetings averages around one-third. RSPs/GMW should therefore 
review the timing and frequency of meetings. Recommendations are also made 
on the importance of ensuring translation and bilingual facilities at meetings. 
WG officials are sometimes observers and sometimes full members of RSP 
and GMW boards. Their status should be consistent across all RSPs.  
 

9. Many public bodies regularly assess their own performance. It is proposed that 
each RSP and GMW board should carry out an annual self-assessment to 
include, for example, attendance, contribution of individual members and the 
role of cluster or equivalent groups. The aim should be to test how well boards 
have met their responsibilities and how they could do things better.    

 
10. The names of current RSP members and their roles and responsibilities are not 

always easy to find. It is proposed that each RSP should publish their 
membership, minutes and agendas (excluding commercially sensitive material) 
as is done by GMW and the names and background of Board members. The 
same recommendation is also directed at the Wales Employment and Skills 
Board.  

 
11. Respondents were asked to state to whom RSPs/GMW were accountable. 

There was no consistency in responses. RSP members were clear of their 
responsibilities but less clear about their accountability. Accountability has 
generally been ‘giving an account for actions taken’ rather than’ being held to 

Tudalen y pecyn 30



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

5 
 

account for those actions’ (Skelcher and Davis, 1995). There is also some 
confusion between ‘vertical accountability – to government and funders – and 
‘horizontal accountability’ – to local stakeholders (Learning and Skills 
Improvement Service, 2012). A key question is who gets the blame if things go 
wrong. It is suggested that the WG issues clear guidance explaining the lines of 
accountability and reporting arrangements. This will be opportune as 
governance arrangements are changing as a result of City and Growth Deals. It 
is also proposed that the RSPs chairs are more closely involved in the 
appraisal of RSP managers/advisers.    

 
12. A strong argument was put forward that regional employment and skills plans 

should be biennial or even triennial. At present as soon as a plan is complete, 
the next plan has to be started without an opportunity to assess its validity. In 
addition planning tended to be short term and it was hoped that the introduction 
of City and Growth Deals will encourage longer term planning.  

 
13. Several respondents pointed out that the WG needed to speed up their 

response to submitted plans and suggested that the priorities letter sent to 
further education colleges and school sixth forms should be formally copied to 
RSP chairs.  

 
14. There is regular contact between the three RSP managers/advisers and 

increased contact between the three RSP chairs. There is little formal 
cooperation though GMW now has representation from a council in North 
Wales. Links between RSPs and equivalent organisations across the border in 
England are being expanded. It is suggested that opportunities for sharing 
good practice be developed.   

 
15. The new Tertiary Education and Research Commission is due to be 

established by 2020 or 2021 and will take over the regulation of higher 
education (HE) institutions and the funding of further education (FE) colleges, 
work-based learning (WBL) and adult and community learning (ACL) and 
possibly school sixth forms. It is suggested that RSPs should be kept informed 
of developments, with representatives serving for example on working groups 
considering the transition to the new body.  

 
16. Finally, to bring together a number of recommendations, it is proposed that WG 

and RSPs/GMW work together to develop a national assurance framework 
drawing on that developed in England for Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs), 
setting out the roles and responsibilities of WG, basic rules about membership, 
guidance on TORs and openness and transparency.  

 
17. The key focus of the recommendations is to ensure that RSPs/GMW are well 

governed and meet the standards of good governance. This will be achieved if 
there is clarity over roles, accountability and transparency; and if board 
members are of the right calibre, act with integrity and ensure their RSP is well 
run.  

 
 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 31



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

6 
 

List of recommendations 
 
Support to Regional Skills Partnerships (RSPs) and Growing Mid Wales 
(GMW) 

 
Recommendation 1: If more responsibilities are to be given to RSPs/GMW as a 
result of WG initiatives and particularly in the light of City and Growth Deals, careful 
consideration needs to be given by each region and by WG to the resources 
(financial and people) available to RSPs/GMW. 

 
Governance structure 

 
Recommendation 2 - The current arrangements under which RSPs/GMW are 
voluntary partnerships appear to be effective and should continue. There 
appears to be no benefit in RSPs having a more formal legal structure. 

 
Recommendation 3 – Each RSP/GMW should draw up a publicly available 
schedule of meetings for the year ahead, setting out which decisions are 
required and when. This will help board members understand what to expect 
from meetings and assist stakeholders understand the operation of boards. 

 
Recommendation 4 – Terms of reference (TORs) based on those used by 
the Regional Learning and Skills Partnership and Growing Mid Wales and 
which incorporate the seven principles of public life should be signed by all 
RSP members and prominently displayed on relevant websites. These TORs 
should emphasise the fact that individuals serve on RSPs to represent their 
sector and not their own institution. An example of the RLSP TORs which 
could be used as a model is attached as Appendix 2.  

 
 Recommendation 5 – It is up to each RSP/GMW to determine the 
appropriate composition and size of its board. But in doing so, RSPs/GMW 
should continue to prioritise the appointment of the right calibre of Board 
members from business and providers and encourage good attendance from 
members and more stability in membership to reduce turnover. RSPs/GMW 
should continue to review the times of meetings and their frequency.  
Translation and bilingual facilities should be available at meetings to 
encourage first language Welsh speakers. RSPs/GMW should also ensure 
diversity in membership. 
 
Recommendation 6 – There should be consistency over the position of WG 
officials attending RSP/GMW meetings. In some cases they attend as full 
members and in others as observers.  
 
Recommendation 7 - Following good practice in governance, RSPs/GMW 
should carry out an annual self-assessment of board performance involving 
the whole board and covering, for example, the contribution of board 
members, attendance at board meetings and the role of cluster or equivalent 
groups. The aim would be to determine how well RSPs/GMW have met their 
responsibilities and how they could do things better. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 32



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

7 
 

Openness and transparency 
 

Recommendation 8 - Each RSP/GMW should publish their meeting agendas, 
minutes (excluding commercially sensitive material) and papers through their 
websites and social media and explore ways of developing their means of 
communication. Such openness will help widen understanding of, and trust in, the 
work of RSPs/GMW. The use of social media should be expanded and records kept 
of the success of social media communication by, for example, tracking the 
retweeting of RSP/GMW messages.  
 
Recommendation 9 – Each RSP/GMW should publish on their websites the names 
and background of Board members possibly with photographs (subject to individual 
agreement). 
 
Recommendation 10 – In line with Recommendation 8, the membership, meeting 
agendas and minutes of the Wales Employment and Skills Board (WESB) should be 
published (excluding commercially sensitive material) in a similar way to those of the 
Council for Economic Development (CED). This would help clarify the relationship 
between RSPs/GMW, WESB and CED and show the progress of regional 
employment and skills plans. 
 
Accountability 

 
Recommendation 11 - WG, after consultation with RSPs/GMW, should issue 
clear guidance outlining to whom RSPs/GMW should report and who should 
hold them to account. This will enable each RSP to clarify its own lines of 
accountability.  This guidance will be particularly significant at a time when the 
City and Growth Deals are leading to new responsibilities, changes in 
reporting arrangements and funding from the UK Government and the private 
sector.  
 
Recommendation 12 – Each RSP chair should discuss with the relevant 
accounting body how best the annual appraisal of RSP managers/advisers 
and other staff seconded to the RSP should be carried out, subject to the HR 
procedures used by each employer. For example, the RSP chair might attend 
the appraisal interview or at the very least send in detailed comments on 
performance. 
 
Identification of skills needs 
 
Recommendation 13 – Employment and skills plans should be produced 
biennially or even every three years, thus providing the opportunity for a full 
assessment of the previous plan. The results of such an assessment should 
be fed back into the next round of planning, leading to more accurate and 
robust plans. I understand that a decision to on this has been made but not 
communicated widely. RSPs/GMW therefore should be able to devote more 
time to assessing future skills needs based on sustained feedback from 
business, providers and WG. RSPs/GMW should also be encouraged to 
develop longer term plans so that future skills needs can be addressed.  
 

Tudalen y pecyn 33



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

8 
 

Recommendation 14 – A time period should be agreed within which WG 
must send comments to an RSP after receipt of its skills and employment 
plan. 
 
Recommendation 15 – The WG should ensure that the priorities letters sent 
by the Cabinet Secretary for Education and the Minister for Welsh Language 
and Lifelong Learning to college principals and to head teachers of schools 
with sixth forms are copied to RSP/GMW chairs. The letters refer to education 
and skills priorities and it is sensible that RSPs/GMW should know formally the 
skills direction set by WG for FE colleges and school sixth forms.  
 
Cooperation between RSPs 

 
Recommendation 16 – RSPs/GMW should continue to develop links with 
each other. Subject to time constraints, some board members and 
managers/advisers, for example, could be encouraged to attend and address 
meetings in other regions and regularly share good practice with the aim of all 
RSPs/GMW improving their performance. Liaison with LEPs, chambers of 
commerce and other relevant bodies in England should continue, particularly 
where there are significant cross border employment flows.  

 
Tertiary Education and Research Commission 

 
Recommendation 17 – The WG should ensure that RSPs/GMW are updated 
on progress with respect to the setting up of the new Tertiary Education and 
Research Commission with particular reference to the implications for the work 
of the RSPs and the City and Growth Deals. RSPs/GMW should actively 
engage in any relevant working groups and consultations over the functions 
and structure of the proposed Commission. 
 
A National Assurance Framework 

 
Recommendation 18 - This report has made a number of recommendations 
to improve decision-making, openness, transparency and accountability. To 
take these forward, RSPs/GMW and WG should work together to develop a 
publicly available national assurance framework based on that used for local 
enterprise partnerships in England but adapted to the Welsh context. Each 
RSP/GMW should agree and sign off a local assurance framework setting out 
the roles of WG and relevant bodies such as UK Government, basic rules 
about the membership of RSPs/GMW (such as having private sector chairs – 
not in the case of GMW); having a certain proportion of business members 
and providers; strong support for Welsh language; and a commitment to 
diversity and the standards of public life covering the expected conduct of 
members). It could also include guidance on TORs; emphasise openness and 
transparency in respect to minutes, papers and agendas; and clarify 
accountability.  
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 34



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

9 
 

Growing Mid Wales 
 

Recommendation 19 - GMW wishes to become an RSP in its own right (see 
paras 59-60). It is beyond the remit of this report to make a recommendation 
on this matter. However if the WG decided that GMW should become an RSP, 
then the recommendations in this report aimed at RSPs should apply also to 
GMW.  
  

Tudalen y pecyn 35



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

10 
 

 
Section 2 – Introduction 
 
 
Welsh Government’s policies on skills 
 
18. The Welsh Government (WG) Policy Statement on Skills (2014a) focused on 

post-19 skills and identified four key priority areas: skills for jobs and growth; 
skills that respond to local needs; skills that employers value; and skills for 
employment.  

 
19. After consultation, the WG (2014b) later published its Skills Implementation 

Plan identifying policy actions to develop a ‘sustainable skills system for the 
future’. The Plan set out a series of skills performance measures and aimed to 
achieve an integrated employment and skills programme. Regional skills 
delivery was seen as making a key contribution. The Plan stated that regional 
skills partnerships needed to become ‘more inclusive and industry-aligned’ and 
work in tandem with City Regions and Enterprise Zones’. A key focus was on 
expanding and developing traineeships and apprenticeships.    

 
Aims of RSPs as set out by the Welsh Government  

 
20. The stated aims of two RSPs and GMW are attached as Appendix 1. The aims 

of the two RSPs broadly reflect the four key aims for RSPs set out by WG 
(2014b). Those of GMW which focus on economic development do not mention 
skills.  

 

 to produce and analyse local management information (LMI) aligned to 
economic intelligence to inform the skills requirements in the regions and 
inform our future priorities for funding linked to our co-investment policy 

 

 to provide a mechanism to review regional skills provision and advise the 
Welsh Government on future prioritisation of skills funding in line with 
regional employment and skills needs 

 

 to act as a strategic body effectively representing regional interests to inform 
a demand-led and sustainable skills system, ensuring that this is informed by 
strong industry engagement and takes into account the level of skills 
utilisation in the region 

 

 to act collectively and strategically to maximise future available funds 
acknowledging the likely reduction in public funds over the coming years 
covering the production and analysis of LMI to inform future priorities for 
funding.  

 
21. The Action Plan was silent on the structure of regional partnerships. The 

implication was that governance arrangements were to be determined at 
regional level. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 36



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

11 
 

22. The WG saw RSPs as playing an important role in understanding the skills 
needs and demand across Wales, identifying priorities and involving providers 
– FE colleges, training providers and HE institutions – in responding to these. 
These responsibilities were particularly significant in respect to the allocation of 
future WG funding for traineeships and apprenticeships. Strong regional 
collaboration between employers and providers was also envisaged to deliver 
the skills that employers needed (WG, 2017a) and to promote economic 
development (WG, 2017b).  

 
Structure of the report 
 
23. This report sets out what is good governance; describes the governance 

arrangements of each of the RSPs and GMW and the impact of the new City 
and Growth Deals; identifies some strengths and weaknesses in governance 
and some similarities and differences; and makes recommendations as to how 
governance may be strengthened. It does not directly address the performance 
of RSPs in analysing skills or delivering skills plans or on the effectiveness of 
their labour market information, although some comments are inevitably made 
about these areas.  

 
24. I am very grateful to those who gave of their time to discuss with me the 

governance of the RSPs. A list of those consulted is attached. Given the tight 
time constraint, I was unable to speak to many members of RSPs, whose views 
would have been valuable.   

 
25. I should add that the enthusiasm and passion of those who work for the RSPs 

were readily apparent. 
 
26. This small scale review has been funded by the Welsh Government (WG). The 

content of this report and its recommendations are the author’s own.    
 
Methodology 
 
27. The review comprised desk based research including the reading of relevant 

documents, telephone or one-to-one interviews with some key personnel in the 
RSPs/GMW and related organisations, and the drawing up of a final report. 

 
Effective Governance 
 
28. The three RSPs/GMW are voluntary partnerships and differ therefore in their 

governance arrangements from, for example, companies limited by guarantee 
or charities or non departmental public bodies. They are not subject to 
Companies or Charity legislation. However there are general principles of good 
governance which can be applied to RSPs/GMW which have an important 
strategic role, receive indirectly public money and influence regional and 
national policy. 

 
29. The Independent Commission on Good Governance in Public Services (2004) 

set out the following key areas for effective governance, surprisingly missing 
out challenge and support: 

Tudalen y pecyn 37



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

12 
 

 

 focus on an organisation’s purpose and on outcomes for citizens and service 
users  

 perform effectively in clearly defined functions and roles 

 promote values for the whole organisation and demonstrate the values of 
good governance through behaviour 

 take informed, transparent decisions and manage risk 

 develop the capacity and capability of the governing body to be effective 

 engage stakeholders and make accountability real. 
 

30. The Humphreys (2011) review of governance of FE colleges identified four 
‘pillars’ of governance  - clarity of purpose; capacity and effectiveness; 
ownership and scrutiny; and accountability.  

 
31. The Griggs Review in Scotland defined governance as: 
 

‘the framework of rules and practices by which a Board of any form ensures 
accountability, fairness and transparency in an organisation’s relationship with 
its stakeholders and shareholders to ensure they are bought into what the 
organisation does.’ 

 

32. The Charity Commission (2015)  identified the six key duties of a trustee as to: 
 

 ensure your charity is carrying out its purposes for the public benefit 

 comply with your charity’s governing document and the law 

 act in your charity’s best interests 

 ensure your charity is accountable 

 manage your charity’s finances responsibly 

 act with reasonable care and skill 
 
33. It might be argued that if management is about running a business, governance is 

about ensuring that it is run properly (Graystone, 2000). 
 
34. Analysing these approaches to good governance, a number of themes emerge 

which can be used as the basis for the current study. 
 

 The purpose and role of RSPs/GMW and of their members need to be clear. 

 RSP/GMW members therefore need to be clear to whom they are 
accountable. 

 The appointment of RSP/GMW members should be open and transparent. 

 RSPs/GMW need to be open and transparent in how they operate. 

 RSP/GMW members need to be of the right calibre and right type so that 
they can provide sufficient challenge and support to their officers and WG.  

 RSP/GMW members need to act with integrity, declaring any conflicts of 
interest. 

 RSP/GMW members need to ensure their organisation is run properly. 
 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 38



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

13 
 

Section 3 -  Description of key regional and national skills organisations  

City and Growth Deals 
 

35. The future direction of the RSPs/GMW is influenced by City Deals in the Cardiff 
City Region and Swansea Bay Area, the Growth Bid in North Wales and the 
possibility of a Growth Bid in Mid Wales.   

 
36. The Economy, Infrastructure and Skills Committee (2017) described the three 

Deals. Cardiff Capital Region City Deal was agreed by the UK Government, WG 
and the ten local authorities in March 2016. ‘There will be a £1.2bn Investment 
Fund of which £734m will be allocated to the South Wales Metro and £495m to 
other projects to support economic growth’.  

37. The Swansea Bay City Deal was agreed in March 2017 by the UK Government, 
WG and Swansea Bay City Region Board. ‘It will provide £1.3bn of funding over 
15 years of which £637m is from the private sector, £241m from the Welsh and 
UK Governments and £396m from other public sector organisations’. 

 

38. The Chancellor of the Exchequer in the UK Government’s March 2017 Budget 
stated that the UK Government looked forward to receiving the proposals for the 
North Wales Growth Deal. In December 2017, the six North Wales Councils 
announced a new body, The North Wales Growth Board, to finalise the Growth 
Deal and manage its delivery once agreed with the two Governments. The new 
body is a Local Authority Joint Committee with representatives of key partners: 
the North Wales and Mersey Dee Business Council, universities and FE  
colleges. The proposals would enable investment of £1.3billion in the North 
Wales economy from Growth Deal monies of £328m capital and £55.4m 
revenue, totalling £383.4m. 
 

39. The Committee noted that there was currently no proposal for a Growth Deal for 
the GMW partnership. However  in March 2018 a Growth Deal had been offered 
to GMW which was taking active steps to respond to this initiative..  

40. Clearly these developments have considerable significance for the identification 
of skills priorities and each region has responded by making changes to the 
structure of their RSPs. The changes in North and South East Wales will be 
implemented from April 2018. This report cannot comment meaningfully on 
developments that have not yet taken place but reference is made to their 
impact.   
 

41. There are three RSPs in Wales, all of which may be described as voluntary 
partnerships. Each has a separate accounting body able to receive public funds. 
All are undergoing or have undergone changes in their governance structures. In 
addition, GMW is a local authority led economic partnership which for the 
analysis of skills falls within the remit of the RSP for the South West and Mid 
Wales.  
 

42. The three RSPs/GMW have stated aims which are broadly in line with the aims 
set out by WG (see para 20 above). These aims are set out in Appendix 1. 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 39



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

14 
 

(i) Regional Skills and Learning Partnership for South West and Mid Wales 
 

43. The first RSP to be set up was the Regional Learning and Skills Partnership 
(RLSP) in 2007 - the RSP for South West and Mid Wales. Initially it was public 
sector led with provider and Third Sector involvement but no private sector 
representation. There was some funding from providers. It had a strategy and an 
operations group. Following encouragement from the WG and a review by SQW 
of its future structure and purpose (Pringle and Duggett, 2016), a shadow board 
was set up with private sector involvement and, based on its recommendations, 
a new reconstituted board established.   
 

44. The reconstituted RLSP covers six local authority areas and is linked to the 
Swansea Bay City Region, two enterprise zones and the Growing Mid Wales 
Partnership.  

 
45. Information on Board membership is readily available with names and 

photographs available on the RLSP’s website. The Board now has 22 members 
(including two WG representatives) who provide oversight and leadership in 
relation to the skills requirements and demands of industry. Thirteen (59%) are 
male and nine (41%) female. The Board is chaired by Paul Greenwood from 
Teddington Engineered Solutions with Barry Liles, principal of Coleg Sir Gâr and 
chair of the Provider Cluster Group, serving as vice-chair. The Board has eight 
employers and includes providers - FE, HE, training providers, Third Sector - 
careers service, local authorities, the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) 
and WG. WG are full members of the Board. 

 
46. The RLSP is supported by eight  industry cluster groups, the chairs of whom, 

drawn from the relevant sector, sit on the Board. These cluster groups cover 
Advanced Materials and Manufacturing; Energy; Constructions; Creative 
Industries & Professional Services; Food, Farming & Environment; Health and 
Social Care; Tourism, Leisure & Retail; and Providers.  
 

47. The Board has clear terms of reference (TORs) covering its mission, objectives, 
membership, structure and responsibilities, operation and accountability and 
which declare that there should be an annual self-assessment of performance.  
The TORs also state that Board members should conform to the seven 
principles of public life. Members are required to sign the document. A copy is 
attached as Appendix 2.  

 
48. There are also TORs for the cluster groups setting out their functions. These 

state that members should act as a conduit between their cluster group and 
colleagues and/or networks and it is implied that they should not represent their 
particular company. Members of the cluster groups are also required to adhere 
to the seven principles of public life.   
 

49. Administration and premises are provided by Carmarthenshire CC and the WG 
funds are allocated by WLGA to the Council as the accounting body. The RLSP 
also runs a regional learning and skills observatory providing local data and 
intelligence for the labour market. A newsletter is published outlining  up to date 
developments. Information is also disseminated  through Twitter. By early 

Tudalen y pecyn 40



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

15 
 

March 2018, 3650 messages had been sent out and there were almost 1,000 
followers.    
 

50. Meetings of the RSLP take place around every six weeks and last 2-3 hours. 
Minutes and agendas are not readily available and are not on any websites. 
There is a schedule of business meetings and a timetable for key decisions. 
The last two meetings were attended by 18 and 17 respectively with seven and 
10 apologies.   
 

51. The RLSP is also the recognised skills arm of the Swansea Bay City Region 
and is leading on the Skills and Talent Intervention project for the City Deal. 
The project will provide an integrated regional approach to delivering skills, 
focusing on specific sector skills required in order to meet the demand of the 
Swansea Bay City Region City Deal. The RSP Board will oversee delivery of 
the project and report to the City Deal Joint Committee and Economic Strategy 
Advisory Board to ensure that all activities meet with, and deliver, the core aims 
of the City Deal. The Board will also be responsible for assuring and 
disseminating performance information and monitoring the impact of the City 
Deal project on an ongoing basis.  
 

(ii) Growing Mid Wales 

 

52. The RLSP provides the skills support for Growing Mid Wales (GMW), which is 
the local authority-led economic partnership for Ceredigion and Powys County 
Councils (CCs). 
 

53. The first meeting of the Partnership took place on 30 March 2015. It was 
agreed the chair and vice chair of GMW would alternate between the leaders of 
Ceredigion CC and Powys CC annually.   
 

54. Meetings take place every three and four months, usually in the morning and 
lasting 2-3 hours. They alternate between venues in Ceredigion and Powys. 
The minutes of ten meetings that took place up to 28 July 2017 have been 
published and are available on the Powys local authority website.  Minutes of 
the planned meeting on 30 Nov 2017 have not yet been published..  
 

55.  There are 22 bodies listed as serving on the GMW Board. They cover the two 
local authorities; WG, organisations representing small businesses; farmers; 
tourism; health; FE and HE; growth zones; the RLSP; and voluntary 
organisations. At its last recorded meeting (28 July 2017) there were 26 
attendees. Six councillors, five local authority officers including one from 
Gwynedd, five from WG, and the RLSP manager attended. There was a 50:50 
gender split.  
 

56.  The average attendance including members of GMW and ‘those in attendance’ 
is just over 24, ranging from 17 to 29. Apologies averaged just over eight per 
meeting.  The minutes identify individual contributions. Meetings are bilingual. 
Substitutes are allowed at meetings. 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 41



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

16 
 

57.  Meetings are attended by the RLSP manager.  The RLSP Employment and 
Skills Plan was considered in meetings, during its development and after its 
completion.  
 

58. There have been discussions with The Marches Local Enterprise Partnership to 
explore cross border issues and with the NWAB.  
 
TORs, agreed at the second GMW meeting in June 2015, set out roles and 
responsibilities, membership and conduct of members, standing orders and 
language status. They are  available on the Powys CC website. The TORs also 
draw attention to the voluntary status of GMW, stating that the Partnership ‘is 
neither a legal entity nor a separately incorporated body and therefore 
decisions reached will need to be agreed formally by each partner organisation. 
Decisions made by the Partnership will not be binding upon individuals and 
partner organisations, allowing organisations to retain their responsibilities and 
independence of action.’  
 

59. GMW because of its unique economic and social status wishes to become a 
separate regional skills partnership. The Mid-Wales region, it is argued, has a 
number of unique features that make growing its local economy a challenge. 
These are listed as deep rurality, over-dependence on small and medium 
enterprises (SMEs) and peripherality. The view is that the RLSP regional plan is 
too focused on the Growth Deal in Swansea Bay. Mid Wales is losing many 
young people who are migrating away from the area and ‘we need to grow our 
own’.  

 
60. GMW is arguing for the same resources as the three RSPs. It is planning to 

have a Joint Committee involving the two local authorities and South Gwynedd 
with an executive board comprising employers and providers to respond to the 
potential Growth Deal initiative.  
 

(iii) North Wales RSP 

61. The NWEAB comprises the six North Wales local authorities, the two 
universities, the two FE colleges, the North Wales Business Council, the 
Mersey Dee Alliance and the chairs of the Snowdonia, Anglesey and Deeside 
enterprise zones (NWEAB, 2017a). 
 

62. The Skills and Employment work stream of the NWEAB was recognised by WG 
as an RSP to inform and drive the skills agenda in North Wales. The NWRSP 
was set up in 2012 and brings together employers, providers - FE, HE, training 
providers and Third Sector - local authorities, DWP.  WG attends as observers. 
It has a membership of around 33. Only two private companies attend 
meetings, one of whom, Sasha Davies from Horizon Nuclear Power, is chair. 
The preference is for business representative organisations to serve. The vice 
chair is Sioned Williams, head of economic development at Gwynedd CC, who 
previously served as chair. . 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 42



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

17 
 

63. In its evidence on City Deals and the Regional Economies of Wales to the 
Economy, Infrastructure and Skills Committee, the NWEAB reported that ‘the 
Ambition Board is the Learning and Skills Partnership for North Wales’ 
(NWEAB, 2017a). This was clarified in a summary briefing stating that ‘the 
established Skills and Employment work stream of the North Wales Economic 
Ambition Board (NWEAB) has been adopted and recognised by Welsh 
Government as one of the three Regional Skills Partnerships’ (NWEAB, 2017b). 
 

64. The NWRSP espouses a ‘team North Wales’ approach. Gwynedd CC is the 
accounting body which receives WG funding via the WLGA. By early March 
2018, the RSP had 1,200 Twitter followers, having sent out over 3,600 tweets. 
A translator is available at meetings and some presentations have been 
through the medium of Welsh. 
 

65. The NWEAB has a website. However while this has extensive information 
which is aimed at helping business, it says little about what NWEAB is or who 
makes up its Board.  
 

66. There is no fixed office for staff. The programme manager has a ‘hot desking’ 
arrangement in various locations. The other full-time member of staff, seconded 
from Careers Wales, is able to have access to the Careers Wales facilities.    
 

67. Board members represent their sectors and are not meant to serve the 
interests of their own organisations. The Board meets around four times in a 
year, each meeting lasting around 2-3 hours. At its meeting on 17 November 
2017, 27 attended (including WG and NWRSP staff) with six apologies. On 18 
January 2018, 23 attended including four RSP staff and two from the WG, with 
nine apologies. At that latter meeting, two were directly from the private sector 
and two from business organisations. and one from local authorities. Three of 
the apologies were from business organisations. 13 of those attending (57%) 
were female.  
 

68. The NWRSP does not have cluster or equivalent groups. Its preference has 
been to work with existing networks such as Creative North Wales which 
represents the digital creative sector across the region.  In terms of 
governance, the RSP is currently accountable to the NWEAB. The RSP is 
viewed as fully independent from WG and owned by the NWEAB. 
 

69. At its 18 January 2018 meeting, the NWRSP agreed to set up an FE sub-group 
to discuss matters affecting the sector.  
 

70. Changes are taking place from April 2018. The NWEAB drew up a North Wales 
Growth Bid and Growth Deal “heads of terms” are to be agreed by March 2018. 
The RSP will become a sub-group of the new North Wales Growth Board Joint 
Committee which will replace the NWEAB. The Joint Committee will bring 
together the leaders and CEOs of the six local authorities with non-voting 
representatives from the FE colleges and universities in North Wales, the North 
Wales Business Council and the Cheshire and Warrington Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP). Some providers have expressed concerns that the 
increased role given to local authorities might cut across the autonomy of 

Tudalen y pecyn 43



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

18 
 

institutions. If the region is successful in securing a Growth Deal, the RSP will 
have a focus on devolved and non-devolved employment and skills issues.  
 

(iv) Learning, Skills and Innovation Partnership (LSkIP) 
 

71. The Learning, Skills and Innovation Partnership (LSkIP) for South East Wales, 
the last RSP to be formed, was established following a stakeholder event on 24 
September 2014. As of August 2015, it had 15 members plus two WG 
observers and the LSkIP adviser- 11 male and four female (LSkIP, 2015). 
These comprised six business representatives covering business organisations 
such as CBI, FSB, and enterprise zones, three providers (university, FE college 
and training provider), Wales Trades Union Congress (WTUC), and local 
government regeneration and education.  
 

72. A core working group was initially set up to take forward detailed work. The 
core group was replaced by a number of work streams on which sat at least 
one board member. The secretariat was provided by the WLGA with the WLGA 
acting as accounting body. By the time of the first newsletter in February 2015, 
the Board had met four times.  

 
73. Three newsletters were published in 2015 which were widely available and 

provided an update on developments. The first announced the launch of LSkIP 
at a stakeholder event in September 2014 and listed the LSkIP Board 
members; the second covered a stakeholder event held in June 2015, 
announced its website and the launch of its observatory and provided updates 
on publications and board membership. The third (and final) newsletter in 
December 2015 described the third stakeholder event, summarised key points 
from a Demand/Supply assessment and provided an update on the 
development of the Cardiff Capital  Region. Newsletters were not published 
after that date. LSkIP uses Twitter with early March 2018 figures showing a 
total of almost 2,300 tweets sent and over 500 followers.   

 
74. LSkIP has now been reconstituted with an Employment and Skills Board 

chaired by Leigh Hughes, from Bouygues UK. The Regional Skills and 
Employment Board supports the delivery of the RSP agenda for Welsh 
Government.  

 
75. On the Board, there is representation from across industry bodies (CBI Wales, 

FSB) and priority sector representatives, enterprise zones, Cardiff Capital 
Region cabinet including City Deal, education (FE, HE, training providers), 
Third Sector, WTUC, the Regional Engagement Team and Local Authorities. 
Employer engagement has been further extended through five cluster groups, 
representing each of the priority sectors and covering ICT Digital; Construction; 
Human Foundation Economy (health, social care, education); Financial and 
Professional Services; and Advanced Materials and Manufacturing.  
 
 

 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 44



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

19 
 

 
76. Each member of the Employment and Skills Board attends as a representative 

of their sector or network rather than as an individual. The Board supports both 
the delivery of the RSP agenda for WG and acts as an advisory board to the 
Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet and City Deal. The local authority leader from 
Newport, acts as the lead on skills and is invited to Board meetings.  
 

77. A constitution to be signed by board members sets out the vision, mission and 
objectives of the Board, core principles of public life, membership, and 
operational procedures. I haven’t seen a copy.  
 

78. At meetings, action points rather than formal minutes are taken and record the 
attendance and decisions made. They are not publicly available. Meetings take 
place in the afternoons every six to eight weeks and last between 2-3 hours. 
 

79. The meeting of 23 November 2017 had an attendance of 13 including the 
LSkIP adviser and nine apologies including from WG. The previous meeting on 
5 October 2017 had an attendance of 12 and 10 apologies. The total of 22 
possible attendees on the November meeting included three from WG, three 
from LSkIP, four directly from business, three from business representative 
organisations (construction, financial and professional services, and ICT 
sectors), three from local authorities and four from providers. Of those attending 
the meeting, ten were male and four female. If apologies are included, 12 were 
male and 10  female. 
 

80. The Cardiff Capital Region Board, established in November 2013, created a 
transition Board to promote joint future working, manage transitioning 
governance, advise on other regional developments and continue the work of 
the previous Board in respect of developments such as the City Deal (Barry, 
2015).  
 

81. A Joint Cabinet, bringing together the leaders (voting) and chief executives 
(non-voting) of the ten local authorities, has been established. The Regional 
Skills and Employment Board will report directly to the Cabinet together with the 
Regional Business Council and the Regional Economic Growth Partnership 
(REGP). LSkIP will no longer exist. From 1 April 2018, the LSkIP adviser 
currently seconded from WLGA will be seconded to the Cardiff Capital Region. 
The Cabinet will have the status of a Joint Committee and be the ultimate 
decision making body in the governance structure. Cardiff City Council will act 
as the accounting authority for the £1.2bn City Deal funding.  
 

82. The REGP’s membership has been agreed and members of the Regional 
Business Council’s membership were recently announced (Palmer 2018). 
 

83. A comprehensive agreement will be drawn up between the participating 
authorities, which will bind and commit each individual local authority and 
any successor authority (in the event of local government re-
organisation) for such duration as is necessary to deliver the City Deal. 
The Cardiff Capital Region has committed to reviewing the City Deal 
governance and exploring the future options for moving to even stronger 

Tudalen y pecyn 45



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

20 
 

and effective governance that is legally binding. The review will include 
consulting the Welsh Government and the UK Government to identify 
actions needed to take forward future governance options. 
 

(v) Wales Employment and Skills Board (WESB) 
 

84. WESB was first established as an independent advisory body in 2008. It 
was chaired by the Wales Commissioner who sat on the now abolished 
UK Commission for Employment and Skills and later by the relevant 
Skills Minister. It has now been reconstituted. The membership of WESB 
‘has been ‘refreshed to provide strategic input and robust challenge to 
shape future skills, apprenticeships, HE and lifelong learning’ (Council for 
Economic Development, meeting (2017).   

 
85. WESB serves as an independent employer-led body to advise WG ‘on all 

matters relating to post-16 employment and skills policy to ensure 
delivery is better aligned to the needs of employers and individuals 
across Wales....It will provide the strategic input and robust challenge to 
shape future skills, apprenticeships, higher education and lifelong 
learning policy (WG 2018d)’. It reports directly to the Council for 
Economic Development (CED) on employment and skills matters. WESB 
has a role in overseeing the regional priorities put forward by RSPs 
through their annual regional employment and skills plans and alignment 
of activity to City  and Growth Deals. 

 
86. This new working arrangement should provide WG with an enhanced 

strategic perspective on skills and strengthen links with business, social 
enterprise and trade unions to influence policy across a number of areas 
relevant to skills and the wider economy. 
 

87. The Minister for Welsh Language and Lifelong Learning attends in an 
observer capacity.  

 
88. Each RSP Chair is a full member of WESB. At the WESB meeting on 

September 2017, the Board agreed that the three RSP employer Chairs 
would chair WESB on a rotational basis, with each hosting a regionally 
focused meeting. This will serve to further strengthen employer 
engagement across the regions. WESB meets three times per year. 

 
89. The core membership of WESB is comprised of the three RSP chairs; 

employers; WTUC; and representatives from HE, FE, WBL, Careers 
Wales, Qualifications Wales, CBI; FSB, Recruitment and Employment 
Confederation (REC), National Health Service (NHS) Confederation. The 
membership of 20, comprising eight women and 12 men, is set out in 
Appendix 4. Minutes and agendas are neither published nor widely 
available. 

 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 46



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

21 
 

(vi) Council for Economic Development 
 
90. The First Minister chairs the Council for Economic Development (CED) 

which meets three times a year. At the 26 January 2017 meeting, the 
decision to change its name from the Council for Economic Renewal to 
the Council for Economic Development was announced. The Cabinet 
Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure stated that the purpose of the 
Council was to provide Council members with the opportunity to inform 
and influence the WG approach; benefit the WG through challenge and 
advice; and provide a channel through which WG can keep members 
informed  on latest developments (Council for Economic Renewal, 
2017a).  

 
91. CED is made up of a range of business, social enterprise and trade 

union representatives.  Agendas and minutes are published and easily 
available. Its importance to the WG is underlined by the presence at its 
meeting on 19 July 2017, attended by 17 people, of the First Minister, 
two Cabinet Secretaries and one Minister. In addition, ten WG officials 
attended for some or all of the meeting. There were eight apologies 
(CAD, 2017b).  

 
92. Each of the three meetings in 2017 discussed developments impacting 

on skills. 
 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 47



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

22 
 

 

Section 4 – Comment and recommendations 

(i) Similarities and differences between the three RSPs/GMW 
 
93. The governance arrangements of the three RSPs/GMW have evolved 

differently. Membership of the four based generally on records of recent 
meetings is attached at Appendix 4. There are some things in common. 

 
a) Each board is a voluntary partnership working with an agreed accounting 

body which is  a legal entity able to receive and account for public funds.  
 
b) The board structure has been established at regional level to reflect the 

views of stakeholders. 
 
c) Each board now has a private sector chair (from Spring 2017). 
 
d) Employer membership has widened with representation from key sectors. 

However there is still a shortage of employers directly serving on the RSPs. 
 
e) Each RSP receives annual funding of £150k from Welsh Government via a 

relevant accounting body. 
 
f) RSPs are not directly accountable for how WG funding is spent; this is the 

responsibility of the relevant accounting body. 
 
g) RSPs/GMW are changing or have recently changed their governance 

arrangements. Further changes are taking place in the light of City  and 
Growth Deals. 

h) Board meetings take place between 3-6 times per year and usually last 
around 2-3 hours. 

 
i) Written records of Board meetings are kept – formal minutes in three cases 

including GMW and in one case action points.  
 
j) These records are not easily available through websites, except in the case 

of the GMW.  
 
k) Apologies in recent meeting of the RSPs/GMW were relatively high at an 

average of around 33%, ranging from 18% to 45%. 
 
l) There has been a high turnover of members. 

 
m) Substitutes are allowed where necessary. 
 
n) The WG attends meetings of all three RSPs/GMW. 
 
o) Each Board chair sits on WESB and takes it in turn to chair WESB 

meetings. 

Tudalen y pecyn 48



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

23 
 

94. The differences are: 
 
a) Each Board is configured differently. 
 
b) Membership and size of the boards vary. 
 
c) Not all RSPs have clear terms of reference (TORs) and not all members 

have signed a TOR or have signed up to follow the seven principles of 
public life. 

 
d) Each RSP/GMW has a different relationship with its stakeholders. 
 
e) Some have cluster or equivalent feeder groups; others prefer to work with 

existing networks. 
 
f) There is some confusion about the respective role of various bodies 

involved in skills policy and delivery. 
 

95. The table below shows the similarities and differences between the three 
RSPs and the GMW. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 49



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

24 
 

Table:  Comparison between RSPs in respect to membership and attendance* 
(drawing where possible on recent minutes and public documents) 

 
 RLSP  GMW North Wales 

RSP 
LSkIP 

Legal status Voluntary 
partnership 

Voluntary 
partnership 

Voluntary 
partnership 

Voluntary 
partnership 

Accountable 
body 

Carmarthenshire 
CC 

Ceredigion CC 
and Powys CC 

Gwynedd CC WLGA then  
Cardiff LA from 

1 April 2018 

Size of Board 21 Avg 24 33 22 

Chaired by 
private sector 

Yes No Yes Yes 

Total no. of 
business 
representatives 
on board** 

8 8 5 4 

No. directly from 
private sector on 
board 

7 1 2 4 

No. of providers 
on board 

5 2 6 6 

Welsh 
Governance 
attendance 

As members As members As observers As observers 

Minutes publicly 
available 

No Yes No No 

Apologies at 
recent meetings 

10 (most recent 
meeting) 

Avg 8 7-8 (last two 
meetings) 

9 (most recent 
meeting) 

Terms of 
reference 

Yes Yes Not seen Not seen 

Annual self 
assessment 
carried out 

Yes (as set out in 
TOR) 

No No No 

Gender balance 59% male/41% 
female 

50% male/50% 
female 

47% male, 53% 
female 

55% male, 45% 
female 

Substitutes 
allowed 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 

*Figures are based where appropriate on attendance at recent board meetings.  
 
 

 
(ii) Support to Regional Skills Partnerships (RSPs) and Growing Mid 

Wales (GMW) 
 

96. Those working for the RSPs were very enthusiastic about the contribution of 
RSPs in identifying and helping to meet skills priorities. There was general 
acknowledgement from all parties that RSPs had achieved a huge amount 
given their very tight resources and low levels of staffing.  The RLSP had four 
full time staff, NWRSP two full-time and LSkIP two full-time. This compares with 
a median of eight in LEPs in England. 

 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 50



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

25 
 

Recommendation 1: If more responsibilities are to be given to RSPs/GMW 
as a result of WG initiatives and particularly in the light of City and 
Growth Deals, careful consideration needs to be given by each region and 
by WG to the resources (financial and people) available to RSPs/GMW. 

 
(iii) Governance structure 
 
97. Each RSP acts as a strategic partnership for their region, on a voluntary 

basis. The WLGA receives funds from WG in three instalments in arrears 
to support RSPs. This funding is then allocated to Carmarthenshire CC 
for the RLSP, Gwynedd CC in the case of NW RSP and retained by 
WLGA for South East Wales. The local authority or the WLGA acts as 
the accounting body. RSPs do not deliver services. They do not have a 
direct contract with WG so are not directly accountable to WG.   

 
98. Although several respondents stated that they would prefer a clearer 

legal structure with the RSP being given a separate legal identity, there 
was not an appetite generally for this approach. The evidence from the 
LEPs in England, where almost one half are companies limited by 
guarantee with the rest being mainly voluntary partnerships or 
unincorporated bodies, is that there is no difference in performance 
between the two models (National Audit Office 2016 and Appendix 3). It 
should be noted that LEPs in England are allocated funding for capital 
projects, the European Social Fund and European Regional 
Development Fund. 

 
Recommendation 2 - The current arrangements under which RSPs 
are voluntary partnerships appear to be effective and should 
continue. There appears to be no benefit in RSPs having a more 
formal legal structure. 

 
99. Each RSP/GMW has developed different governance arrangements, 

taking account of local circumstances and context. As such, they have 
evolved different ways of working. For example, LSkIP and RLSP draw 
on specially convened cluster or sector groups whereas the NWRSP 
prefers to work with existing networks.   

 
100. This regional variation is a strength in that local stakeholders can 

continue to influence the shape of the governance structure. The 
weakness is that there is no standardisation in the way they operate 
although, as shown in the table above, there are similarities in the way 
they work. Some national providers have to deal with more than one 
RSP. They pointed out that the lack of standardisation between 
RSPs/GMW hinders effective interaction.  

 
101. Meetings of RSPs/GMW last around 2-3 hours and take place in intervals 

of around 6-8 weeks. Respondents stated that there was some form of 
schedule of meetings published at the beginning of each accounting year 
setting out the decisions to be required during the year. I did not, 
however, see any examples. 

Tudalen y pecyn 51



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

26 
 

 
Recommendation 3 – Each RSP/GMW should draw up a publicly 
available schedule of meetings for the year ahead, setting out which 
decisions are required and when. This will help board members 
understand what to expect from meetings and assist stakeholders 
understand the operation of boards. 

 
102. The RLSP has terms of reference (TORs) which have to be signed by 

members. These cover vision, mission, objectives and membership. 
They also covers core structure and responsibilities (which include the 
seven principles of public life) and accountability. These were not 
displayed on the website. The GMW TORs are also signed and are 
prominently displayed on the website of Powys local authority.  
 

103. I was told NWRSP and LSkIP had TORS but these are not readily 
available and I did not see copies.  
 

104. Although I was informed that individual Board members represent their 
sector and not their individual companies and organisations, I am unsure 
of the effectiveness of the reporting back mechanisms. The role of 
representatives serving on GMW was clearly laid out in the TORs with 
members being expected to give an annual report to their constituents. In 
the RLSP TORs, representatives are expected to ‘communicate 
information about any work or development to their sector’. Some 
respondents reported that business representatives on RSPs sometimes 
had difficulty in separating out the interests of their own businesses from 
those of the sector they were representing.  

 
Recommendation 4 – Terms of reference (TORs) based on those 
used by the Regional Learning and Skills Partnership and Growing 
Mid Wales and which incorporate the seven principles of public life 
should be signed by all RSP members and prominently displayed 
on relevant websites. These TORs should emphasise the fact that 
individuals serve on RSPs to represent their sector and not their 
own institution. An example of the RLSP TORs which could be used 
as a model is attached as Appendix 2.  

 
105. The number of people attending meetings of RSPs/GMW boards ranged 

from 21 to 33 members.  
 
106. There is no ideal size for a board. Large boards ensure representation 

from a wide range of stakeholders but might make it more difficult for 
individuals to participate and inhibit decision-making. One study showed 
that the optimum size for the effectiveness of a group is seven and that 
effectiveness of decision-making falls by 10% for every one person 
added to the group (Blenko et al, 2009). On the other hand a small board 
excludes key stakeholders and responsibilities and duties are shared 
between a reduced number of members. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 52



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

27 
 

107. A comparison with other bodies shows that the average size of NHS 
Trusts is 12.9 and of clinical commissioning groups 14.3 (Sealy, 2016); 
that of FE governing bodies is 17.3 (Graystone, 2015) and that of 
universities 18 to 20 (Schofield, 2012). Humphreys recommended an FE 
governing body of 8-12, albeit with a larger membership group to 
scrutinise the board (Humphreys, 2011). RSPs are very different from 
these legal entities. A more relevant comparison might be with LEPs 
where the average size is 15 with a range of 10-27 (Ward, 2017).  

 
108. There has been a relatively high turnover of Board members. For 

example, 26 attended the first GMW meeting in March 2015. Only eight 
of these attended the July 2017 meeting. Of the 17 members of LSkIP 
listed in 2015, only five attended the meeting in November 2017. Figures 
were not available for the other RSPs. The changes taking place as a 
result of the City and Growth Deals will further impact membership.  

 
109. Attendance at meetings is patchy. As noted in the table above, apologies 

at RSP/GMW meetings analysed averaged around one-third, ranging 
from 18% to 45%.  Attendance is influenced by many factors. These 
might include pressures on the diaries of senior managers, the frequency 
of meetings, where meetings are held and the timings of meetings.  

 
110. There is also a different pattern with respect to WG attendance. WG 

officials are entitled to attend RSP/GMW meetings (although this is not 
made explicit). However, in North Wales and LSkIP they are listed as 
observers whereas in the RLSP and GMW they are full members.  

 
111. The gender ratio - female membership of RSPs/GMW ranged between 

41% to 53% - was healthier than in many public bodies (Sealy, 2016, 
Graystone, 2015). The number and proportion of Welsh speakers are not 
recorded though meetings of the NWRSP and GMW have translation 
facilities to enable contributions though the medium of Welsh. There are 
no figures for disabled and others with protected characteristics.  

 
112. The importance of ensuring the right calibre and type of RSP member 

was raised by several respondents. While some felt that the right people 
and the right organisations were involved as members, others argued 
that RSPs were not attracting the high calibre of businessmen and 
businesswomen able to challenge officials and think strategically. At least 
one RSP preferred to go for HR directors rather than managing directors. 
Others felt that this favoured large companies at the expense of small 
and medium enterprises (SMEs). In addition the use of substitutes meant 
that attendance at meetings of RSPs/GMW was not consistent.  

 
113. Dorger argued that effective boards needed to have a balance of 

professional expertise to help with strategic priorities; diversity 
requirements in terms of age, ethnicity, or gender; and representational 
requirements in terms of business and provider stakeholders (Dorger 
Consulting, 2011). These categories can usefully be applied to 
RSPs/GMW.  

Tudalen y pecyn 53



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

28 
 

 
114. Many boards of public bodies regularly assess their own performance, 

usually on an annual basis. The purpose of self-assessment is to enable 
a board to assess specific issues, benchmark against other boards, 
ensure it is doing its very best and aspiring to be outstanding, and to 
demonstrate leadership (Association of Colleges, 2014). The RLSP 
TORs state that the Board should undergo an annual self- assessment to 
‘assess the effectiveness of the Board, including its future continuation’. 
Self-assessment is used by Estyn when inspecting education institutions 
and by many boards of public bodies.  The overall aim is to encourage 
self-reflection and, building on points arising, continually to improve 
performance. Such an approach can be applied to RSPs/GMW.   

 
 Recommendation 5 – It is up to each RSP/GMW to determine the 

appropriate composition and size of its board. But in doing so, 
RSPs/GMW should continue to prioritise the appointment of the 
right calibre of Board members from business and providers and 
encourage good attendance from members and more stability in 
membership to reduce turnover. RSPs/GMW should continue to 
review the times of meetings and their frequency.  Translation and 
bilingual facilities should be available at meetings to encourage first 
language Welsh speakers. RSPs/GMW should also ensure diversity 
in membership. 

 
Recommendation 6 – There should be consistency over the position 
of Welsh Government (WG) officials attending RSP/GMW meetings. 
In some cases they attend as full members and in others as 
observers.  

 
Recommendation 7 - Following good practice in governance, 
RSPs/GMW should carry out an annual self-assessment of board 
performance involving the whole board and covering, for example, 
the contribution of board members, attendance at board meetings 
and the role of cluster or equivalent groups. The aim would be to 
determine how well RSPs/GMW have met their responsibilities and 
how they could do things better. 

 
(iv) Openness and transparency 
 
115. RSPs/GMW have websites of varying quality. All use social media 

including Twitter. However, only GMW publishes agendas, minutes and 
papers. This compares with LEPs where two-thirds make their minutes 
publicly available (Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES) and 
FSB, 2014). Making such information more widely available might assist 
understanding of the work of RSPs and promote transparency.  Clearly in 
some meetings there is a need for commercial sensitivity and quite rightly 
such discussions and decisions must be treated as confidential. 

 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 54



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

29 
 

116. In some cases, it is difficult even to find out the current names of those 
serving on RSP boards and their roles and responsibilities. Some list the 
names of organisations but not the individual members. Information on 
the skills and expertise of RSP/GMW members could help show the 
range of experience on boards and help identify any skill gaps. The 
RLSP website has photographs of board members. It would be relatively 
easy to display the names of RSP/GMW members on websites, their 
photographs (subject to individual agreement) and a short resume of 
their background and skills. Such practice is common in education and 
skills organisations.  

 
117. The means of communication from boards to stakeholders is not always 

apparent. The RLSP uses newsletters which are included on websites. LSkIP 
no longer issues newsletters electronically. All use stakeholder events which 
help shape skills plans and policy documents.  

 
118. As with other education and skills bodies, RSPs have not always 

succeeded in attracting SMEs to serve on their boards or on their cluster 
or equivalent groups. However the FSB which represents 10,000 SMEs 
in Wales is involved in all RSPs/GMW and reported satisfaction in at 
least one RSP at the positive involvement of FSB in key decisions. And a 
detailed survey anglicising the skills needs of SMEs across priority 
sectors was conducted by Cardiff and Vale College on behalf of LSkIP 
(Scorey and Jones-Evans, 2017)   However, those running micro-
businesses do not have time or resources to commit to meetings. The 
use of social media should be actively encouraged to reach SMEs. 
Twitter accounts of the three RSPs total almost 3,000 followers. This is 
tiny compared to the 236,500 SMEs in Wales, of which 225,500 are 
micro-businesses (Barry, 2016). 

 
119. A number of respondents were unclear of the role of WESB. It is now 

chaired in turn by the chairs of the three RSPs and is attended by the 
RSP officers. This helps liaison with RSPs. The agendas, papers and 
minutes of CED are widely available thought the WG website. This is not 
the case for WESB.      

 
Recommendation 8 - Each RSP/GMW should publish their meeting 
agendas, minutes (excluding commercially sensitive material) and papers 
through their websites and social media and explore ways of developing 
their means of communication. Such openness will help widen 
understanding of, and trust in, the work of RSPs/GMW. The use of social 
media should be expanded and records kept of the success of social 
media communication by, for example, tracking the retweeting of 
RSP/GMW messages.  

 
Recommendation 9 – Each RSP/GMW should publish on their websites 
the names and background of Board members possibly with photographs 
(subject to individual agreement). 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 55



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

30 
 

 
Recommendation 10 – In line with Recommendation 8, the membership, 
meeting agendas and minutes of the Wales Employment and Skills Board 
(WESB) should be published (excluding commercially sensitive material) 
in a similar way to those of the Council for Economic Development (CED).  
This would help clarify the relationship between RSPs/GMW, WESB and 
CED and show the progress of regional employment and skills plans. 

 
(v) Accountability 

 
120. The WG review of RSPs stated that the purpose of funding was to 

support RSPs to identify skills needs and advise the WG. The contract 
between WG and WLGA set out agreed targets and outputs which are 
subject to a ‘robust monitoring process’ (WG, 2017c).  
 

121. RSP members appear to be clear about their responsibilities but perhaps 
less clear about their accountability. There was a variety of views as to 
whom Board members were currently accountable. Some felt they were 
accountable to WG especially in the light of the financial support from 
WG for RSPs and the WG’s commitment to working increasingly through 
the regions.  Others felt they were accountable to the accounting body 
that received public funds or to a higher level board within their region 
(for example the NWEAB in North Wales and in future to Joint 
Committees) or to any body that contributed funds or related expenses 
including accommodation. Others felt a responsibility to their own 
sectors. In the case of GMW accountability was to the local authorities.  

 
122. There was similar confusion in England with respect to the LEPs (CLES 

and FSB, 2014). Less than half the LEPs felt that they were clear lines of 
accountability to the local electorate (NAO,2017). The review of the 
governance of enterprise and skills in Scotland attempted to draw up 
clear lines of accountability (Crerer, 2017) but this was rejected by the 
relevant Minister (BBC Scotland, 2017). 

 
123. Accountability for RSPs/GMW has generally been `giving an account for 

actions taken’ rather than `being held to account for those actions’ by their 
local communities (Skelcher and Davis 1995). The former involves 
explaining actions through the use of data and other information; the latter 
requires clarity over where the buck stops. The Learning and Skills 
Improvement Service (LSIS) in discussing the accountability of FE 
colleges in England drew attention to the tension between ‘vertical 
accountability’ – to government and funders – and ‘horizontal 
accountability’ – to local stakeholders. LSIS could equally been 
discussing RSPs/GMW.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 56



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

31 
 

 
124. In answer to the question - who takes the blame if things go wrong? - 

there are no clear answers. An example might be a regional employment 
and skills plan. Let’s say that as a result, an FE college or training 
provider closes some courses which had recruited, replacing them with 
courses in areas identified as regional priorities. But few if any students 
take up the opportunities available. The college/training provider thus 
loses crucial income and is forced to shed staff. The relevant governing 
body might blame the chief executive; the chief executive might blame 
the RSP; in its turn, the RSP might blame the WG for not scrutinising its 
skills plan effectively; and the WG might blame the region for not having 
robust plans in place and possibly the WLGA which receives the funding. 
The RSP might blame the college or training provider for poor marketing 
of the relevant courses. And so on.   

 
125. Each RSP/GMW is going through further changes as a result of the City 

Deals in Cardiff and Swansea Bay and the Growth Deals in North Wales 
and potentially in Mid Wales. It is too early to comment on the 
effectiveness of the new arrangements. However those I spoke to felt 
that the new arrangements run the risk of the already confusing skills 
agenda becoming more complex. Who will make the ultimate decisions 
about skills priorities in a region? Will the higher level skills needs of the 
City and Growth Deals take precedent over those of, for example, those 
not in education, employment or training (NEETs) who might benefit, 
initially at least, from provision in lower skills areas?  

 
126. An Assembly Committee considering the impact of City Deals on the 

regions expressed concern at the risk of another bureaucratic layer being 
added and recommended that the new arrangements should ensure 
decision-making is streamlined (Economy, Infrastructure and Skills 
Committee, 2017). The Committee also recommended that the 
governance of Growth Deals should enable proper scrutiny to ensure 
clarity over who makes the decisions, how money is spent, who is 
accountable for outcomes and who is responsible if targets are not met.   

 
127. Two RSP managers/advisers are seconded to the relevant local authority 

(Carmarthenshire and Gwynedd) which receives public funds and acts as 
the accounting body. The third is currently employed by WLGA in a 
similar capacity. The annual appraisal of performance of all three is 
subject to the internal HR procedures of their employer. Although it is for 
each employer to determine how they appraise the performance of their 
senior managers, it seems sensible that the chairs of each RSP are 
involved in some way in this process, either attending the appraisal 
interview or sending in their detailed comments. And consideration 
should be given to the appraisal of others seconded to the RSP.  

 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 57



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

32 
 

 
Recommendation 11 - WG, after consultation with RSPs/GMW, 
should issue clear guidance outlining to whom RSPs/GMW should 
report and who should hold them to account. This will enable each 
RSP/GMW to clarify its own lines of accountability. This guidance 
will be particularly significant at a time when the City and Growth 
Deals are leading to new responsibilities, changes in reporting 
arrangements and funding from the UK Government and the private 
sector.  
 
Recommendation 12 –Each RSP chair should discuss with the 
relevant accounting body how best the annual appraisal of RSP 
managers/advisers and other staff seconded to the RSP should be 
carried out, subject to the HR procedures used by each employer. 
For example, the RSP chair might attend the appraisal interview or 
at the very least send in detailed comments on performance. 

 
 
(vi)     Identification of skills needs 
 
128. There was general support from business representatives and providers 

for the regional planning of skills and a recognition that the WG was 
looking to devolve more responsibility to the regions. However most of 
the providers felt that the plans needed further development  and  that 
the data collected must be more accurate for the providers to have 
confidence in the plans. In addition there was lack of clarity as to whom 
the plans were aimed at – business, providers, learners or WG. 

 
129. Some providers felt that they were not fully involved in regional planning 

and their views were not sufficiently taken into account in preparing 
plans. Some national providers drew attention to the challenge of having 
to work with three separate RSPs, each with their own distinctive 
approach. However others recognised that they needed to be more 
proactive in working with the RSPs. It was suggested that RSPs could 
increase the number of consultative and feedback workshops throughout 
the year to ensure the involvement of a wider range of stakeholders.  

 
130. Providers recognised that regional plans were improving but could be 

marketed better throughout the region.  They argued that plans needed 
to be carefully assessed. Based on feedback from business and 
providers, the collection of labour market information will inevitably 
continue to improve. And stakeholders can then have more confidence 
that the priorities set out in regional plans reflect skills needs in their 
areas. It was also pointed out that ways should be explored to more fully 
involve schools with attention drawn to the relatively low literacy and 
numeracy levels of many school leavers who join the job market. There is 
an opportunity for increased involvement with schools following the 
phased implementation of the Donaldson curriculum reforms (Donaldson, 
2015). And schools are now running more vocationally relevant courses. 

Tudalen y pecyn 58



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

33 
 

It should be noted that two RSPs include a director of education on their 
board. 

 
131. Some FE colleges and training providers pointed out that they provide 

courses (for example level 1 and level 2 vocational courses) which might 
not fit into regional priorities. These courses provide an opportunity for 
young people and adults to gain confidence to enable them to progress 
on to those courses which might more readily address skills priority 
areas. However if the opportunity to take advantage of such level 1 and 
level 2 courses is taken away, many of the youngsters are at a high risk 
of becoming NEETs. This point is made in para 125 above and, more 
eloquently, by WTUC which sees raising skills levels as playing a key 
role in bringing about a more equal society. 

 
“Investment in skills and infrastructure are of course central to boosting 
prosperity.  These must achieve measurable outcomes for people affected 
by low wages, precarious work, unemployment and wider social 
disadvantage.  In practice that means infrastructure and skills 
development being specifically designed and planned to support the 
creation of a more equal and sustainable economy”. 
 (Mansfield, 2017) 

 
132. SME representatives pointed out that regional skills priorities should not 

ignore the skills needs in traditional trades such as plumbing and car 
mechanics. With the focus often on higher level skills; these are 
sometimes ignored or given low priority.   
 

133. A number of college principals raised concerns about the risk to their 
NPISH (non profit serving households) status being undermined if RSPs 
became too interventionist and referred to concerns over ‘micro-
management’ of college courses.  

 
134. Some respondents drew attention to the planning cycle. Employment and 

skills plans had to be produced annually. As soon as one plan was 
completed, another plan had to be started. This gave no time to learn the 
lessons from the previous plan. It was felt that RSP boards could devote 
more time in analysing feedback from one plan which could be fed into 
the next planning cycle. Thus plans should preferably be drawn up 
biennially or even every three years.  

 
135. Another point made was that because of the way RSPs/GMW are 

funded, the focus of plans is on the short term rather than the longer term 
in respect to skills priorities. It is hoped that the City and Growth Deals 
will encourage the analysis of skills needs over a longer time period. 

 
136. Several of the above points are outside the scope of the present study 

but are included as useful background.   
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 59



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

34 
 

Recommendation 13 – Employment and skills plans should be 
produced biennially or even every three years, thus providing the 
opportunity for a full assessment of the previous plan. The results 
of such an assessment should be fed back into the next round of 
planning, leading to more accurate and robust plans. I understand 
that a decision to on this has been made but not communicated 
widely. RSPs/GMW therefore should be able to devote more time to 
assessing future skills needs based on sustained feedback from 
business, providers and WG. RSPs/GMW should also be 
encouraged to develop longer term plans so that future skills needs 
can be addressed.  
 

 
137. Several respondents commented on the need for WG to speed up its 

responses to RSP plans. Often the response came too late as plans had 
been already been published or colleges and training providers had 
already planned their provision for the following year.  
 

138. It was pointed out that the priorities letters, sent by the Cabinet Secretary 
for Education and the Minister for Welsh Language and Lifelong Learning 
to principals of FE colleges and headteachers of schools with sixth forms, 
have not been copied to chairs of RSPs. These set out priorities for the 
period ahead and ‘provide a framework which will help shape your future 
strategies and operational plans’ (Williams and Davies, 2016). Although 
RSPs chairs receive these letters by circuitous routes, it is suggested 
that formally copying in RSP chairs would help underline the WG’s 
commitment to regional planning.   

 
Recommendation 16 – A time period should be agreed within which 
WG must send comments to an RSP after receipt of its skills and 
employment plan. 

 
Recommendation 17 – The WG should ensure that the priorities 
letters sent by the Cabinet Secretary for Education and the Minister 
for Welsh Language and Lifelong Learning to college principals and 
to head teachers of schools with sixth forms are copied to 
RSP/GMW chairs. The letters refer to education and skills priorities 
and it is sensible that RSPs/GMW should know formally the skills 
direction set by WG for FE colleges and school sixth forms.  

 
(vii) Cooperation between RSPs 
 
139. There is little formal cooperation between RSPs as far as Board 

members are concerned. GMW has representation on the RLSP and this 
arrangement is reciprocated. There is liaison between the three 
managers/advisers who organise and administer the three RSPs. I was 
told that there is some sharing of good practice and ‘healthy competition’ 
between the three. The three RSP chairs meet two or three times per 
year and have at least an annual appointment with the Minister for Welsh 
Language and Lifelong Learning. The three chairs sit  

Tudalen y pecyn 60



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

35 
 

 
on WESB and now in turn chair its meetings. The Minister for Welsh 
Language and Lifelong Learning attends these meetings.  This has 
inevitably improved cross-RSP and Ministerial links.  

 
140. RSPs liaise with equivalent organisations in England. For example the 

NWRSP includes the North Wales and Mersey Dee Business Council 
and the West Cheshire and North Wales Chamber in its membership and 
GMW several times discussed its relationship with The Marches LEP. 

 
141. There are examples of good practice that could usefully be shared 

between the RSPs/GMW and with organisations across the border.  
 

Recommendation 18 – RSPs/GMW should continue to develop links 
with each other. Subject to time constraints, some board members 
and managers/advisers, for example, could be encouraged to attend 
and address meetings in other regions and regularly share good 
practice with the aim of all RSPs/GMW improving their performance. 
Liaison with LEPs, chambers of commerce and other relevant 
bodies in England should continue, particularly where there are 
significant cross border employment flows.  

 
(viii)Tertiary Education and Research Commission 
 
142. The new Tertiary Education and Research Commission is due to be 

established in 2020 or 2021, following the WG acceptance of the 
recommendations of the Hazelkorn Review (2016). The Commission will 
replace the Higher Education Funding Council Wales. Current 
arrangements for funding FE colleges, WBL and ACL and possibly 
school sixth forms will be transferred to the Commission.. 

  
143. The 2017 WG consultation showed general support for the proposed 

new body (Williams, 2017). Further consultations are taking place. Some 
respondents suggested that the RSPs needed to be kept closely 
informed of the implications for the regional planning of employment and 
skills developments and that RSPs/GMW should contribute to any 
working groups set up to take forward the proposals .  

 
Recommendation 19 – The WG should ensure that RSPs/GMW are 
updated on progress with respect to the setting up of the new 
Tertiary Education and Research Commission with particular 
reference to the implications for the work of the RSPs/GMW and the 
City and Growth Deals. RSPs/GMW should actively engage in any 
relevant working groups and consultations over the functions and 
structure of the proposed Commission. 

 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 61



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

36 
 

 
(ix) National Assurance Framework 
 
144. The final recommendation incorporates a number of the 

recommendations already made and sets out a way to move forward. It 
proposes a national assurance framework. This reflects the 
recommendations of the Economy, Infrastructure and Skills Committee 
(2017), the national assurance framework developed for LEPs 
(Department for Communities and Local Government 2016) and the 
expanding and developing responsibilities accorded to RSPs by the WG.  

 
Recommendation 18 - This report has made a number of 
recommendations to improve decision-making, openness, 
transparency and accountability. To take these forward, RSPs/GMW 
and WG should work together to develop a publicly available 
national assurance framework based on that used for local 
enterprise partnerships in England but adapted to the Welsh 
context. Each RSP/GMW should agree and sign off a local 
assurance framework setting out the roles of WG and relevant 
bodies such as UK Government, basic rules about the membership 
of RSPs/GMW (such as having private sector chairs – not in the 
case of GMW); having a certain proportion of business members 
and providers; strong support for Welsh language; and a 
commitment to diversity and the standards of public life covering 
the expected conduct of members). It could also include guidance 
on TORs; emphasise openness and transparency in respect to 
minutes, papers and agendas; and clarify accountability.  

 
(x)     GMW 

 
Recommendation 19 - GMW wishes to become an RSP in its own 
right (see paras 59-60). It is beyond the remit of this report to make 
a recommendation on this matter. However if the WG decided that 
GMW should become an RSP, then the recommendations in this 
report aimed at RSPs should apply also to GMW.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 62



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

37 
 

Section 5 - Conclusions 
 
145. This small scale review has described the governance arrangements of 

the three RSPs and the GMW in Wales.  
 
146. RSPs produce regional employment and skills plans to analyse and 

influence the provision of skills based on regional economic need, to 
support growth and key infrastructure projects in each region. On the 
basis of these plans, RSPs make recommendations to Welsh 
Government to influence the prioritisation and deployment of skills 
funding. The WG intends that the plans will reach a far wider audience in 
coming years, expanding their influence across Welsh Government and 
the skills delivery infrastructure. To achieve this ambitious agenda, RSPs 
(and GMW) need to be well governed.  

 
147. As set out in para 34 above, a number of criteria were identified for 

effective governance. These covered the following: 
 

 The purpose and role of RSPs/GMW and of their members need to be clear. 

 RSP/GMW members therefore need to be clear to whom they are accountable. 

 The appointment of RSP/GMW members should be open and transparent. 

 RSP/GMW members need to be of the right calibre and right type so that they 
can provide sufficient challenge and support to their officers and WG. 

 RSPs/GMW need to be open and transparent in how they operate. 

 RSP/GMW members need to act with integrity, declaring any conflicts of 
interest. 

 RSP/GMW members need to ensure their organisation  is run properly 
 
. 
148. The 19 recommendations aimed at RSPs/GMW and at WG are intended 

to meet these criteria. 
 

 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 63



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

38 
 

References 
 
Association of Colleges (2014) Guidance notes: board self-evaluation. March. 

Barry, S. (2015) New core team established to drive forward a £1.2bn City Deal bid 
confirms First Minister Carwyn Jones. Wales OnLine. 3 December.   

Barry, S. (2016) There are a record 238,200 active firms in Wales and a huge 99.3% 
of them are SMEs.  Wales OnLine, 4 January.  

BBC Scotland (2017) Scotland's enterprise agencies to keep boards following 
government U-turn. 30 March.  

Blenko, M.W. Mankins, M.C. and Rogers, P. (2009)  Decide & Deliver: 5 Steps to 
Breakthrough Performance in your Organization Bain and Company..  
 
British Council (2017) The UK Skills System: An Introduction. June. 
 
Business, Innovation and Skills (2010) Local Growth: Realising Every Place’s 
Potential Cm 7961. October. 
 
Centre for Local Economic Strategies and Federation of Small Businesses (2014) 
The Future of Local Enterprise Partnerships: the Small Business Perspective. CLES 
and FSB. September 
 
Charity Commission for England and Wales (2015) The essential trustee: what you 
need to know, what you need to do. 
 

Council for Economic Development (2017a) Minutes of meeting, Welsh Government. 
19 July. 
 
Council for Economic Renewal (2017b) Minutes of meeting, Welsh Government. 26 
January.  
 
Crerer, L (2017) Enterprise and Skills Review: Proposals on Governance and the 
Creation of a Strategic Board.  February. 
 
Department for Communities and Local Government (2016) Local Enterprise 
Partnership. National Assurance Framework, UK Government. November.  
 
Donaldson, G (2015) Successful Futures: Independent Review of Curriculum and 
Assessment Arrangements in Wales. WG. February.  
 
Dorger Consulting (2011) Matters: Right Sizing Your Board of Directors. Dorger 
 
Economy, Infrastructure and Skills Committee (2017) City Deals and the Regional 
Economies of Wales. National Assembly for Wales. November. 
 
 
Graystone J (1999) Developments in the governance of further education colleges, 

Tudalen y pecyn 64



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

39 
 

primarily between 1970 and 1997 PhD. University of Bath. 
 
Graystone (2015) FE: Where are we going?  UCL Institute of Education and 
Education and Training Foundation Seminar 2015. pp24-28. 
 
Graystone, J., Orr, K., Wye, R. (2015) Governance and governors in Hodgson, A 
(ed.) The Coming of Age for FE? London: Institute of Education Press.  
 pp 135-154  
 
Hazelkorn, E (2016) Towards 2030: A Framework for Building a World Class Post 
Compulsory Education System for Wales. Welsh Government. March.  
 
Healy, J. and Newby, L. (2014) Making Local Economies Matter: A Review of Policy 
Lessons from the Regional Development Agencies and Local Enterprise 
Partnerships. The Smith Institute. May. 
 
Humphreys, R (2011) An independent review of the governance arrangements of 
further education institutions in Wales, Cardiff: Welsh Government WAG10-11171. 
 
The Independent Commission on Good Governance in Public Services (2004) The 
Good Governance Standard for Public Services. Office for Public Management Ltd 
and CIPFA. 
 
Labour Party (2012) Chuka Umunna on a One Nation Industrial Strategy. November. 
 
Learning and Skills Improvement Service (2012) Challenges for FE college 
governance and priorities for development. London: LSIS. 
 
LSkIP (2015) Newsletter. Edition 2. August. 
 
Mansfield, M (2017) Delivering a 'fair work nation' post-Brexit. WTUC. 
 
National Audit Office (2016) Local Enterprise Partnerships. HC 887. Session 2015-
16. 23 March. 
 
North Wales Economic Ambition Board (2017a) City Deals and the Regional 
Economies of Wales: Written evidence to the National, Assembly of Wales 
Economy, Infrastructure and Skills Committee. July.  
 
North Wales Economic Ambition Board (2017b) City Deals and the    
Regional Economies of Wales: Summary Briefing For Economy, 
Infrastructure & Skills Committee. July.  
 
Palmer, C. (2018) Cardiff Capital Region Appoints Board Members for Business 
Council Business News Wales.20 February. 

Pringle, S. and Duggett, J. (2016) Towards ‘RLP 2020’. A Strategic View. SQW Ltd.   

Tudalen y pecyn 65



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

40 
 

Schofield, A (ed.) (2013) A new guide for new clerks and secretaries of governing 
bodies of higher education institutions in the UK. Leadership Foundation for Higher 
Education. November 
 
Scorey, J and Jones-Evans, D (2017) SME Skills Survey 2017: Cardiff and Vale 
College on behalf of LSkIP.  
 
Scottish Government (2016) Enterprise and Skills Review: Report on Phase 1. 
October.  
 
Sealy, R. (2016) NHS Women on Boards. 50:50 by 2020. University of Exeter 
Business School. 
 
Skelcher, C. and Davis, H. (1995) Opening the boardroom door:  membership of 
local appointed bodies. LGC Communications Joseph Rowntree Foundation. 
 
Ward, M (2017) Local Enterprise Partnerships, House of Commons Briefing Paper 
No 5651. 2 May.  
 
Welsh Government (2014a) Policy Statement on Skills. January 
 
Welsh Government (2014b) Skills Implementation Plan. July 
 
Welsh Government (2017a) Aligning the Apprenticeship model to the needs of the 
Welsh economy.  February. 
 
Welsh Government (2017b) Prosperity for All: the National Strategy. Taking Wales 
Forward.  
 
Welsh Government (2017c) Review of Regional Skills Partnerships. October 
(internal document).  
6 
Welsh Government (2017d) Briefing for Minister for Welsh Language and Lifelong 
Learning on the Wales Employment and Skills Board (internal document)  
 
Williams, K. (2017) Cabinet Secretary for Education’s Oral Statement on the Tertiary 
Education and Research Commission. WG, 5 December.  
 

Williams, K. and Davies, A. (2016) Priorities for the Further Education Sector 
2017/18. Letter sent to FE college principals by Kirsty Williams Cabinet 
Secretary for Education and Alun Davies Minister to Lifelong Learning and 
Welsh Language. 6 December.  
 
 
 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 66



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

41 
 

People interviewed (either face to face or by telephone) 
 
Jayne Roberts and Meurig Thomas, Welsh Government 
Jane Lewis, RLSP manager 
Karen Higgins (Skills and Capacity Adviser, LSkIP 
Iwan Thomas, Regional Programme Manager, NWEAB-RSP 
Martin Mansfield, General Secretary, Wales TUC (by telephone) 
Ian Price, Director, CBI Wales 
Kieron Rees, Policy Adviser, Universities Wales 
Dafydd Evans, Barry Liles, Mark Jones, Guy Lacey, David Jones (all by telephone) 
(college principals)  
Mike Leamond by telephone and Joshua Miles, Robert Basini, FSB 
Sasha Davies, Paul Greenwood, Leigh Hughes, chairs of the three RSPs, seen 
together  
Eluned Morgan, Minister for Welsh Language and Lifelong Learning and Huw Morris, 
Welsh Government (by telephone) 
Steven Williams, Senior Regulation and Strategy Manager, Higher Education 
Funding Council for Wales (by telephone) 
Operations Management Group of the National Training Federation for Wales (17 in 
attendance) 
Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn, Leader of Ceredigion County Council and chair of GMW 
(by telephone) 
 

Initialisms and acronyms used in report 

CBI: Confederation of British Industry 
CC: County Council 
CED: Council for Economic Development 
CLES: Centre for Local Economic Strategies 
FE: Further Education 
DWP: Department for Work and Pensions 
FSB: Federation of Small Businesses 
GMW: Growing Mid Wales 
HE: Higher Education 
LEP: Local Enterprise Partnership 
LMI: Labour Market Information or Local Management Information  
LSkIP: Learning Skills and Innovation Partnership (RSP covering SE Wales) 
NAO: National Audit Office 
NTFW: National Federation of Training Providers 
NWEAB: North Wales Economic Ambition Board 
NWRSP: North Wales RSP 
RLSP: Regional Learning and Skills Partnership (for South West and Mid Wales) 
RSP: Regional Skills Partnership 
SME: Small Medium Enterprise 
TORs: Terms of Reference 
WESB: Wales Employment and Skills Board 
WBL: Work Based Learning  
WG:  Welsh Government 
WLGA: Welsh Local Government Association 
WTUC: Wales Trades Union Congress 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 67



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

42 
 

Appendices  

Appendix 1  

Stated aims of two RSPs and GMW 
 
Regional Learning and Skills Partnership for South West and Mid Wales 
 
Its mission, set out in terms of reference, is described as follows: 

 
The Board will act as a stakeholder group engaging and consulting with specific 
sectors, industries and regions: 

 
A. To identify and respond to the economic and social skills needs of South 
West and Mid Wales.  
B. To engage with employers and other stakeholders to identify current and 
future skills needs and plan accordingly. 
C. To align activity to future demand and stimulate innovation through learning 
and employment.  
D. To enable an inclusive regional response to Welsh Government policy and 
initiatives.  
E. To align activity with the skills requirements of the Swansea Bay City Deal 
Board and the Growing Mid Wales Partnership. 

 
 
 
Growing Mid Wales sets out its aims as being: 

 

 encourage interaction with businesses, higher and further education, and 
with public and private sector stakeholders  

 identify key themes and sectors, and priorities for investment.  

 support business led innovation, enterprise and investment in Mid Wales.  

 support the delivery of Powys Local Growth Zones, SIROLI and the Teifi 
Rural Growth Zone concepts.  

 engage with the Central Wales Economic Forum and the Mid Wales 
Regional Tourism Forum.  

 secure wider collaborative and transformational working with key partners 
organisations and the business community  

 agree roles, responsibilities and improved delivery arrangements in the 
promotion of economic development.  

 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 68



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

43 
 

 
 
 
LSkIP’s mission set out in January 2015 was and still is: 
 

a. To identify and respond to the social, economic and skills needs of 
South East Wales.  

b. To engage with employers and other stakeholders to identify current 
and future skills needs and plan accordingly. 

c. To align activity to future demand and stimulate innovation.  
d. To enable an inclusive regional response to Welsh Government Policy 

and initiatives.  
 
 

The aims of RLSP and LSkIP are broadly in line with the aims suggested for RSPs 
set out by the WG (2014b) (see para 20) although there is no reference to 
maximising future income. Those of the GMW are more focused on economic 
development and do not refer to skills. 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 69



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

44 
 

Appendix 2 
 
Regional Learning and Skills Partnership Board: terms of reference  
     
Name of Board 
1.  Name 
2. Purpose of the Project3. Aims and Objectives 
1.1 The name and current working title of the Board shall be the Regional 

Learning and Skills Partnership (“the Board”) for South West and Mid Wales, 
Partneriaeth Dysgu a Sgiliau Rhanbarthol De Orllewin a Canolbarth Cymru. 

 
2.  Vision 
 
2.1  The vision of the Board is to be a strategic partnership that will contribute to 

the economic, environmental, social and cultural well-being of the South West 
and Mid Wales regions, supporting people and businesses to deliver high 
performing prosperous regions.   

 
3.  Mission 
 
3.1 The Board will act as a stakeholder group engaging and consulting with 

specific sectors, industries and regions: 
 
A. To identify and respond to the economic and social skills needs of South 
West and Mid Wales.  
B. To engage with employers and other stakeholders to identify current and 
future skills needs and plan accordingly. 
C. To align activity to future demand and stimulate innovation through learning 
and employment.  
D. To enable an inclusive regional response to Welsh Government policy and 
initiatives.  
E. To align activity with the skills requirements of the Swansea Bay City Deal 
Board and the Growing Mid Wales Partnership. 

 
4.  Objectives 
 
4.1 To provide strategic focus for learning and skills across the region.  
4.2 To improve the collection and sharing of regional employment and skills data, 

and intelligence.  
4.3 To collectively identify and develop a response to the regional strategic 

priorities to: 
a. Identify the needs of businesses and the current and future workforce 

in the regions.  
b. Encourage innovation to meet these needs by optimising the assets 

and resources and thereby maximising the impact of provision and 
raising performance.  
 

4.4 To produce an Employment and Skills Plan for the region. 
4.5 To ensure the regions have learning and skills infrastructure that meets their 

economic and social needs. 

Tudalen y pecyn 70



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

45 
 

 
5.  Membership 
 
5.1  The interim membership of the Board shall be determined by nomination from 

each of the following stakeholder groups, with each invited to submit a 
representative for one seat.  

 

Seat Sector Nomination mechanism 

1 Further Education ColegauCymru,  
SW& CW Principals Group 

2 Higher Education Agreement between Vice 
Chancellors 

3 Training providers National Training Federation for 
Wales 

4 Local Government 
Regeneration 

SW & C W Regeneration Directors 
Group 

5 Local Government Education Education through Regional 
Working (ERW) 

6 Third Sector Nomination from CVC’s in SW & 
MW 

7 Industry/Employers Swansea Bay City Deal Board 

8 Industry/Employers Growing Mid Wales Board 

9 Industry/Employers Haven Enterprise Zone Board 

10 Industry/Employers Neath & Port Talbot Enterprise Zone 

11 Industry/Employers Cluster Group Chair Advanced 
Material and Manufacturing 

12 Industry/Employers Cluster Group Chair Energy 

13 Industry/Employers Cluster Group Chair Health, Social 
Care & Life Sciences 

14 Industry/Employers Cluster Group Chair Construction 

15 Industry/Employers Cluster Group Chair Tourism, 
Leisure & Retail 

16 Industry/Employers Cluster Group Chair Creative 
Industries & Professional Services 

17 Industry/Employers Cluster Group Chair Food & 
Farming 

18 Industry/Employers Cluster Group Chair Mid Wales 

19 Training Providers Provider Cluster  Group Chair  

20 Careers Wales  Careers Wales 

21 DWP/Job Centre Plus Job Centre Plus 

22 RLP Manager RLP 

 Observers  

 Welsh Government Welsh Government 

  
5.2 Observer members and co-opted experts may be invited as needs arise 
5.3 The Board shall exist for 1 year and then be re-nominated.  Members shall be 

eligible for re-nomination. 
5.4 The Board shall appoint a Chair and Vice-Chair at its first meeting and then  

Tudalen y pecyn 71



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

46 
 

bi-annually. If it is necessary for the Board to appoint an Interim Chair, the 
appointment will be reviewed every 3 months.   

5.5 Failure to attend three consecutive Board meetings will result in a new 
nomination being sought to represent the sector/stakeholder group. 

5.6 The Secretariat function will be fulfilled by the officers employed to undertake 
the work of the Regional Learning and Skills Partnership. 

5.7 Members may appoint substitutes to represent their sector when necessary, 
all names of nominated substitutes to be sent to the Administrator in advance 
of the meetings. 

Core Principles 
6.  Core Structure and Responsibilities 
 
6.1 Members of the Board shall be expected to work on the basis of mutual 

support, shared values and a culture of joint working and collaboration.  
 
6.2 Members of the Board commit to the following principles: 

6.2.1 Integrity – members should avoid placing themselves under any 
obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to 
influence them in their work. 

6.2.2 Objectivity – Members should act and take decisions impartially, fairly 
and on merit and for the widest benefit of others. 

6.2.3 Accountability – Every Member will act on behalf of the stakeholders or 
groups they represent, and it is expected that every Member will 
ensure that reasonable arrangements are in place to report back on 
their work. 

6.2.4 Openness – Members should act and take decisions in an open and 
transparent manner.  

6.2.5 Confidentiality – Every Member should respect confidentiality, and 
where relevant ensure that confidential material is protected and that it 
is not used without permission from the Board (as a collective) or for 
private purposes. 

6.2.6 Accountability – every member is accountable to the public for their 
decisions and must submit themselves to scrutiny if necessary. 

6.2.7 Honesty – every member should be truthful. 
6.2.8 Declarations – Every Member should declare any interest that could 

influence discussions or decisions taken by the Board, and they will be 
recorded by the secretariat. 

6.2.9 Promoting equality and respect for others – Every Member should 
undertake their responsibilities with due regard to the need to promote 
equal opportunity for all and demonstrate respect and consideration 
towards others. 

 
6.3 Members of the Board are expected to: 

6.3.1  To co-operate strategically on behalf of stakeholders across the South 
West and Mid Wales region. 

6.3.2 To attend regular meetings of the Board. 
6.3.3 To prepare thoroughly for all meetings by reading the minutes and 

accompanying papers as well as to contact and discuss any matter that 
is relevant to the work of the Board with others they represent as 
required. 

Tudalen y pecyn 72



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

47 
 

6.3.4 To be prepared to contribute to meaningful discussions at Board 
meetings and to listen, give due consideration to and respect the 
opinions and views of others. 

6.3.5 To communicate information about any work or development relevant 
to their sector.  

6.3.6 To convey and promote the decisions of the Board within their sector 
and report, on a regular basis, the work of the Board. 

6.3.7 To recognise and respect the worth and contribution of each Member. 
6.3.8 To represent the Board effectively on other groups, forums and 

partnerships as required and to ensure that the views of the Board are 
conveyed clearly and firmly on all occasions. 

6.3.9 To participate in meetings, events and other activities organised by the 
Board from time to time. 

2. Operational Procedures of the Board 
7.  Operational Procedures of the Board 
 
7.1 The Regional Learning and Skills Partnership host organisation 

(Carmarthenshire County Council) will fulfil the administrative and financial 
functions of the Partnership and shall be responsible for providing secretariat 
functions to the Board. 

7.2  Meetings of the Board are to be scheduled on a bi-monthly basis will be 
reviewed as necessary; however it shall be a requirement for the Board to 
meet at least once every quarter.  

7.3  The Chair shall be responsible for calling meetings of the Board with the 
support of the secretariat. 

7.4  The secretariat shall provide written notice of the time, date and location of 
the Board meeting to all members at least 10 working days before the date 
fixed for the meeting. 

7.5  If a member of the Board wishes to include an item on the agenda of the 
Board meeting, they should notify the secretariat at least 5 working days prior 
to the date of the meeting. The Chair and secretariat shall agree the final 
content of the agenda for the Board meeting. 

7.6  If a member of the Board wishes to present a written report to the Board, they 
should ensure that the secretariat receives an electronic version of the report 
at least 7 working days before the date of the meeting.  The Chair has the 
discretion to take any items that are of an urgent or informative nature that 
would benefit the discussion at the meeting. 

7.7  The secretariat shall distribute the final agenda and reports for the Board 
meeting electronically at least 5 working days before the date of the meeting. 

7.8  For Board meetings, 6 Members (including the Chair or the Vice-Chair in their 
absence) shall comprise a quorum. 

7.9  The Board shall conduct its business in an open and transparent way and in a 
spirit of consensus and mutual respect. Therefore, the Board shall endeavour 
to arrive at a decision on matters by consensus. If consensus cannot be 
reached, the Chair shall ask for a vote and a simple majority shall carry the 
vote. If necessary, the Chair shall ask for a second vote or shall use their 
casting vote. 

7.10  It shall be expected that decisions of the Board will be implemented. However, 
where executive authority is required, decisions shall be referred to the 
decision making bodies of individual authorities/stakeholders for consideration 

Tudalen y pecyn 73



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

48 
 

and the outcomes of these considerations shall be reported back to the 
Board. 

7.11  The secretariat shall be responsible for keeping minutes of the Board and 
distributing them to members of the Board.  

7.12  Copies of these minutes shall be made available by the secretariat on 
request. 
7.13  The Welsh and English languages have equal status and the RLSP will work 

to the Carmarthenshire County Council Welsh Language Standards. 
 
8.  Accountability and Resources 
 
8.1   Carmarthenshire County Council as host will monitor and be accountable for 

the financial management of the Partnership to ensure that the funder’s and 
financial guidelines of the Authority are followed. 

 
8.2 Scrutiny of the RLSP will be undertaken through the Democratic process of 

Carmarthenshire County Council and through regular updates to the Local 
Authority representative groups (Chief Executives; Regeneration and 
Education Directors). 

 
 
9.  Amending the constitution 
 
9.1  The Board shall undertake an annual self-assessment to assess the 

effectiveness of the Board, including its future continuation. 
9.2  The Board shall review the Terms of Reference on an annual basis and 

amend it as necessary. 
9.3 The Terms of Reference and any subsequent amendments will be referred to 

the governing decision making bodies of individual member organisations for 
consideration and the outcomes of these considerations shall be reported 
back to the Board. 

9.3  Members of the Board shall have the right to propose improvements to the 
Constitution on the condition that they are submitted to the secretariat in 
accordance with Section 7 of this Constitution. 

 
 
1. 
10.  Commitment 
 
10.1  Each Member shall sign a copy of the Board’s Terms of Reference on behalf 

of the organisation they represent, as a sign of their support and commitment 
to the vision, mission and objectives of the Regional Learning & Skills 
Partnership for South West and Mid Wales, Partneriaeth Dysgu a Sgiliau 
Rhanbarthol De Orllewin a Canolbarth Cymru. 

 
Signed:   

   
On behalf of:   

   
Date:   

Tudalen y pecyn 74



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

49 
 

Appendix 3 
 
Identifying skills priorities in the other UK countries 
 
England 
 
The Government has introduced a training levy on large employers to funds increase 
apprenticeship numbers and is passing increasing responsibility to regions for 
determining skills needs and supporting economic development. There are currently 
38 Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) in England – reduced by one after a recent 
merger – which replaced the nine Regional Development Agencies wound up in 
March 2012.The approval of the first 24 LEPs was announced in a White Paper 
published in 2010 (BIS 2010).  In March 2014, all LEPs submitted strategic economic 
plans to negotiate Growth Deals with funding awarded from the Single Local Growth 
Fund. 
 
The National Audit Office (NAO) report on LEPs pointed out that the UK Government 
did not stipulate the form that LEPs should take. The most common corporate 
structure form is the company limited by guarantee (51%) followed by voluntary 
partnerships between private sector representatives and local authority leaders 
(41%). The others have a variety of unincorporated arrangements and committees. 
LEPs which are not corporate bodies nominate a local authority or combined local 
authority to act as their accountable bodies (NAO, 2016).  

LEPS were intended to be led by the private sector. They were required to have a 
private sector chair with the majority of members drawn from the private sector. In 
practice, the NAO show that private sector board membership varied between 45% 
and 80%, with the average being 58%. The NAO report concludes that LEPs began 
as largely strategic partnerships advising on economic growth. With the setting up of 
the Local Growth Fund, LEPs have changed their remit and are projected to receive 
around £12bn between 2015-16 and 2020-21. LEPs are one of a number of means 
aimed at devolving responsibility for creating local growth to local areas. Interestingly 
the NAO report noted that LEPs reported that they were uncertain about their place 
in the wider devolved landscape and slightly less than half considered that there 
were clear lines of accountability between the LEP and the local electorate.  

Much has been made by the UK government of the private sector 
representation of around 62% on the 38 LEPs in England. However a closer 
look at the ‘private sector’ chairs show that 11 are former business people or 
retired, one is a current vice-chancellor, one from an accounting firm and 
another a regional director of a bank – all worthy people no doubt but hardly 
private sector leaders.  
 
The average size of the LEPs is between 15-16 with a range of 10-27 (Ward, 
2017). LEPs have a different role from that of the RSPs as they receive capital 
funding for their areas and have responsibility for the European Social Fund 
and European Regional Development Fund. 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 75



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

50 
 

Concerns over accountability have been addressed by a National Assurance 
Framework agreed between the UK Government and LEPs which cover the 
funding received by LEPs via their accountable body. Each LEP is required to 
agree and sign off its own local assurance framework. These frameworks 
cover membership, roles and responsibilities, commitment to diversity, 
conduct of members, cooperation with other LEPs, implementation and 
delivery of projects and relationship with local authorities.  
 
Politically there is some consensus on the future with LEPs. For example, prior to the 
2015 general election Labour stated that it would work to ‘improve LEPs, not abolish 
them’ while outlining concerns over their accountability and capacity to deliver’ 
(Labour Party 2012 and Healy and Newby, 2014). 

 
Scotland 

The Cabinet Secretary for the Economy, Jobs and Fair Work announced in Phase 
1 of the Scottish Government’s Enterprise and Skills Review the setting up of a 
single strategic body to bring together and harmonise the work of the four Non 
Departmental Public Bodies NDPBs): - Skills Development Scotland, Scottish 
Enterprise, Highlands and Islands Enterprise (HIE) and the Scottish Funding 
Council (the Agencies) (Scottish Government, 2016). The Review aimed to provide 
stronger governance and to address concerns over the accountability of the four 
NDPBs.  The Crerer review (2017) was set up to advise on how this new 
arrangement might work.  
 
The Cabinet Secretary after consultation reversed his decision and Crerer’s advice 
and decided instead that there should be a an overarching strategic board with no 
statutory powers and that a fifth NDPB be set up in the South of Scotland with a 
similar role to that of the well respected HIE. 
 

 
Northern Ireland 
 
Northern Ireland has pursued a policy of ‘quality’ modern apprenticeships lasting 
typically three years and focused on specific high level growth occupations (British 
Council, 2017). It does not have regional skills bodies. The Department for the 
Economy in the devolved Northern Ireland Executive Government directly funds its 
six FE colleges and training providers to deliver courses geared to skills priorities. At 
present Northern Ireland is under direct rule from the UK government.    
 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 76



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

51 
 

 
Appendix 4 
 
Membership of the three RSPs, GMW, NWEAB and WESB  

 
Regional Learning and Skills Partnership South West & Mid Wales RLSP Board  
(from website)        
Paul Greenwood, Chair, 
Teddington Engineered Solutions 
Barry  Liles 
Vice Chair & Chair of Provider Cluster 
Group, Coleg Sir Gar  
Huw Matthias, Chair of the Advanced 
Materials & Manufacturing Cluster 
Group, Tata Steel 
Nicky Howells, Chair of the Energy 
Cluster Group, Valero 
Phil Lumley, Chair of the Construction 
Cluster Group, Cyfle Building Skills  
Louise  White, Chair of the Creative 
Industries & Professional Services 
Cluster Group, DVLA  
Nigel  Williams, Chair of the Food, 
Farming & Environment Cluster Group, 
Castell Howell Foods 
Tony  Sawyer, Chair of the Health and 
Social Care Cluster Group, Park House 
Court Care Home  
Lucy Good, Chair of the Tourism, 
Leisure & Retail Cluster Group, 
Bluestone Resort  
Mike Shaw, Representing Growing Mid 
Wales Partnership, Ceredigion County 
Council 

Sharron Lusher, Representing Haven 
Waterway Sharron L:usher, Haven 
Waterway Enterprise Zone, 
Pembrokeshire College 
Arwyn  Watkins, Representing NTfW 
Cambrian Training Company 
John-Mark  Frost, Representing DWP  
Department of Work and Pensions 
Mandy  Ifans, Representing Careers 
Wales,  
Mark Jones, Representing Further 
Education, Gower College Swansea 
Judith  James, Representing Higher 
Education, Swansea University 
Jayne Ireland, Adult Learning Wales 
Gareth Morgans, Representing 
Education through Regional Working, 
Carmarthenshire County Council 
Paul Griffiths, Representing the 
Regional Directors of Economic 
Development and Regeneration, Powys 
County Council 
Amanda  Carr, Representing the Third 
Sector, SCVS 
Nigel Arnold, Welsh Government 
Kim Phelps, Welsh Government  

 

Membership of Growing Mid Wales 
(from Terms of Reference on Powys CC website) 
Welsh Government 
Ceredigion County Council 
Powys County Council 
Trafnidiaeth Canolbarth Cymru 
Federation of Small Businesses 
Farmers Union of Wales 
National Farmers Union Cymru 
Mid Wales Regional Tourism Forum 
Mid Wales Health Collaborative 
Central Wales Economic Forum 
Mid Wales Manufacturing Group 
Powys Local Growth Zones; 
 

Teifi Valley Local Growth Zone 
Stronger Communities Programme 
Board (Powys) 
Sustainable Futures - Ceredigion 
Regeneration Partnership 
Regional Learning Partnership for 
South West and Central Wales 
Aberystwyth University 
University of Wales Trinity St David 
Coleg Ceredigion 
NPTC Group: Brecon Beacons Campus 
/ Newtown Campus 
Ceredigion Association of Voluntary 
Organisations 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 77



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

52 
 

 
 
Attendance at GMW meeting 28 July 2017  
 
 

Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn, Leader of 
Ceredigion County Council (Chair) 
Councillor Rosemarie Harries, Leader 
of Powys County Council (Vice Chair) 

Ann Elias, Ceredigion County Council 

Ann Watkin, Welsh Government 

Bronwen Morgan, Chief Executive – 
Ceredigion County Council 

Carole Weller, Welsh Government 

Ceri Stephens, MWMG 

Chris Rowland, MDS Transmodal 

Claire Miles, Mid Wales Regional 
Engagement 

Cllr. Alun Williams, Ceredigion County 

Council 

Cllr. Gareth Lloyd, Ceredigion County 
Council 

Cllr. Liam Fitzpatrick, Powys County 

Council 

Cllr. Myfanwy Alexander 

Jane Lewis, RLSP 
 

John Jones, Welsh Government 

Matthew Williams, FSB 

Mike Shaw, Ceredigion County 
Council 

Paul Griffiths, Powys County Council 

Rhian Williams, Gwynedd County 
Council 

Rhodri Llwyd Morgan, Aberystwyth 

University 

Rob Halford, Welsh Government 

Russell Hughes-Pickering, Ceredigion 

County Council 

Sandra Isaac, Coleg Ceredigion 

Susan Bolter, Powys County Council 

Val Hawkins, Mid Wales Tourism 

Vivienne Lewis, Welsh Government 

 

Felicity Llewellyn – Powys County 
Council (in attendance) 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 78



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

53 
 

LSkIP 
(based on attendance at Employment and Skills Board October 2017 and 
November 2017) 

 
NB These names were listed under attendance and apologies. Not all are full members.   

Leigh Hughes, Bouygues (chair), 
Richard Crook, local authority 
regeneration (vice chair) 
Dr Francis Cowe, USW, Higher 
Education 
Lynn Pamment, PWC 
Paul Davies, Airbus 
John Nash, TSW Training, National 
Training Federation for Wales 
Julian Morris , Circo, Enterprise Zone 
 Environment and Regeneration 
Lynette Jones, South East Wales 
Directors of Education and Education 
Consortia 
Jon Williams, WRW construction, CBI 
Kathryn Robson, ALW, Third Sector 
Debbie Wilcox, local authority 
Professor Brian Morgan, Cardiff Capital 
Region 
 
 

Roger Harry, Circle IT, ICT 
Denise Lovering, Glenside 
Commercials Ltd, SW Chamber of 
Commerce 
Guy Lacey, Coleg Gwent, SE FE 
principals 
Prof Brian Morgan, Cardiff Met 
Grant Santos, FSB 
Ben Cottam, FSB 
Lynne Jones 

Rachel Garside-Jones, Welsh 
Government 
Lisa Jones, regional engagement team 
Nick Lee, Welsh Government 
Caitlin Davies, Welsh Government 
(observer) 

Karen Higgins, Adviser, LSkIP 
  
 

 
North Wales RSP 
(based on attendance and apologies at the meeting of 18 January 2018 (most 
recent minutes) 
 
Sasha Davies Horizon Nuclear Power(Chair) 
Iwan Thomas, Carwyn Jones-Evans, Ffion Jones, 
Katie Edwards - NWEAB,  
Jayne Roberts, Edwyn Williams Welsh 
Government 
Sioned Williams - Gwynedd Council 
Alice Williams -  EPC’s 
Christine Wynne- North Wales 14-19  
Rhian Thomas -Careers Wales;  
Bev Lovatt – Department for Work and 
Pensions   
Dafydd  Evans - Grŵp Llandrillo-Menai   
 Julie Cowley - Glyndwr University –  
Ceri  Jones – Construction Industry Training 
Board   
Sue Price - Coleg Cambria  
Bryn Jones - Bangor University 
Mike Learmond -  Federation of Small Businesses  
   

Alison Atkinson - North Wales Social Care & 
Health Workforce Board Sue Scott; - North 
Wales Training 
Gavin Jones - Airbus 
 Gail Dervish - WCVA;  
Graham Nutt Engineering Education Scheme Wales – 
(observer) 
Apologies 
Arwyn Thomas - GwE 
Ashley Rogers - North Wales & Mersey Dee 
Business Council  
Colin Brew  - West Cheshire & North Wales 
Chamber –;  
Cllr Garffield Lewis – Creative North Wales;  
Kevin Pascoe - Open University in Wales;  
Jim Jones - North Wales Tourism ;  
Catherine Miller - WCVA  
Nerys Bourne - Careers Wales  
Meurig Thomas - Welsh Government  

 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 79



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

54 
 

North Wales Economic Ambition Board 

 
The membership of the NWEAB comprises the six North Wales local authorities, , Grŵp 

Llandrillo Menai, Coleg Cambria, Bangor and Wrexham – Glyndwr Universities the North 

Wales Business Council, the Mersey Dee Alliance and the Snowdonia, Anglesey and 

Deeside Enterprise Zone Chairs. Ambition Board meetings are attended by Welsh 

Government Officials and a representative of the North Wales Voluntary County 

Associations. 

 
Wales Employment and Skills Board 
 
Chair 

1. Regional Skills Partnership (RSP) Employer Chairs – on rotation 

Employers 

2. Six employers to be nominated by the Regional Skills Partnerships (each RSP to 
nominate two employers) 

3. CBI Wales representative 
4. Federation of Small Businesses (FSB) representative 
5. Recruitment and Employment Confederation (REC) 
6. NHS Confederation 

Trade Union 

7. Wales TUC 

Provider network 

8. ColegauCymru 
9. Universities Wales 
10. National Training Federation for Wales 
11. National Union of Students Wales 

Other key stakeholders 

12. Careers Wales 
13. Qualifications Wales 

Observers 

14. Minister for the Welsh Language and Lifelong Learning 

(The Cabinet Secretary for Education and the Cabinet Secretary for Economy and 
Transport will be invited when matters relating to their portfolios are discussed.) 

15. Regional Skills Partnership Managers x 3 

Welsh Government officials 

16. Huw Morris - Director SHELL Group 

(SHELL Deputy Directors to attend when matters relating to their portfolios are discussed.) 

 

Membership will be reviewed on an on-going basis.  

 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 80



27   March 2018 Independent Report on the Governance of Regional Skills Partnerships in Wales 

 

55 
 

Current membership of WESB (excluding observers and WG officials)* 
 
Martin Mansfield, WTUC 
Ben Cottam, FSB 
Ian Price, CBI 
Iestyn Davies, ColegauCymru 
Tom Hadley, REC 
Amanda Wilkinson, Universities Wales 
Sarah John, NTFW 
Debra Williams, Careers Wales 
Philip Blaker, Qualifications Wales 
Michael Fleming, Airbus 
 

William McNamara OBE, Bluestone National 
Park Resort 
Paul Greenwood, Teddington Engineered 
Solutions (chair of RLSP) 
Sasha Davies, Horizon Nuclear Power 
Leigh Hughes, Bouygues Ltd 
Iwan Thomas, RSP manager, North Wales 
Karen Higgins, RSP manager, SE Wales 
Jane Lewis, RSP manager, SW Wales 
Denise Lovering, Glenside Commercials Ltd 
Ellen Jones, NUS Wales  
Richard Tompkins, NHS Confederation 
 

*names supplied by WG 

 

 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 81



12 Tachwedd 2018 

Annwyl Eryl 

Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 29 Hydref ynglŷn â chynnwys hanes Cymru yn y 

cwricwlwm newydd.   

Fel y gwyddoch, mae'r Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg wedi ymrwymo i fonitro 

cynnydd y gwaith o weithredu'r cwricwlwm newydd. Fel rhan o hyn, mae'r Pwyllgor wedi 

cyhoeddi ymgynghoriad yn ddiweddar i geisio barn y rhai dan sylw, a/neu sydd â 

diddordeb penodol yn y gwaith sy'n cael ei wneud i ddatblygu a dylunio'r cwricwlwm 

newydd. Mae rhagor o fanylion am sut i gyflwyno ymateb ar gael ar y wefan.  

Mae Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg wedi cytuno i fynychu cyfarfod Pwyllgor  ddydd 

Iau 10 Ionawr 2019 i ddiweddaru'r Pwyllgor ar ei chynnydd ar ddiwygio'r cwricwlwm. Bydd 

hefyd yn gyfle i'r Aelodau fynegi unrhyw bryderon gan randdeiliaid. Bydd y cyfarfod hwn 

yn gyhoeddus a byddwch yn gallu gweld y sesiwn ar Senedd TV.  

Efallai y byddwch hefyd yn ymwybodol bod Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu 

wedi cynnal arolwg yn ddiweddar, gan ofyn i bobl bleidleisio ar y pwnc ar gyfer eu 

hymchwiliad nesaf. Cyhoeddwyd yn ddiweddar mai'r pwnc a enillodd oedd 'Addysgu 

hanes, diwylliant a threftadaeth Cymru'. Bydd Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a 

Chyfathrebu yn lansio ymgynghoriad yn fuan mewn perthynas â'r ymchwiliad hwnnw a 

byddai'n falch iawn o gael cyflwyniad gennych chi. Mae'r Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac 

Addysg yn gobeithio y bydd canfyddiadau'r ymchwiliad hwnnw'n helpu i lywio ei waith ei 

hun ar ddiwygio'r cwricwlwm.  

Eryl Owain  

Cydgysylltydd Hanes Cymru 

Drwy e-bost  

CYPE(5)-33-18 – Papur i'w nodi 2 

Tudalen y pecyn 82

Eitem 4.2

http://www.senedd.cynulliad.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=12513
http://www.senedd.tv/


 

Bydd copi o'r llythyr hwn yn cael ei rannu â’r Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu. 

Yn gywir 

 

Lynne Neagle AC 

Cadeirydd 

Tudalen y pecyn 83



Comisiynydd Plant Cymru 
Children’s Commissioner for 
Wales 
Sally Holland 

Croesawn ohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg yn 
ogystal â’r Saesneg ac mewn amryw o 
fformatau/We welcome correspondence 
in the medium of Welsh and English as 
well as alternative formats. 

Oystermouth House/Tŷ 
Ystumllwynarth 
Charter Court/Llys Siarter, 
Phoenix Way 
Swansea/Abertawe SA7 9FS 
T 01792 765600 F 01792 765601 

post@childcomwales.org.uk 
post@complantcymru.org.uk 
www.childcomwales.org.uk 
www.complantcymru.org.uk 

By email only 

To: Rt. Hon Carwyn Jones AM, First Minister of Wales, Welsh Government 

09 November 2018 

Dear First Minister, 

Further to our meeting on 17 October 2018, I write to seek further written confirmation of the Welsh Government’s 

position regarding home education and the forthcoming consultation expected in spring 2019.  I am grateful to your 

officials for swiftly providing a note of our meeting. 

Our meeting was the last in a series of meetings and discussions I have held with a range of officials, the Minister 

for Children, Older People and Social Care, and the Cabinet Secretary for Education.  These meetings followed a 

series of correspondence over the summer, as I was seeking clarification of the Welsh Government’s position ahead 

of the consultation in 2019. In particular, I was seeking assurances around my three tests for the policy, including 

that all children in Wales should be accounted for, that every child receives a suitable education and that every 

child must have the opportunity to be seen by a local authority representative and their views and experiences 

listened to.  

I’ve copied the relevant section of your official’s note from 17 October’s meeting in full, for ease of reference: 

 The CCfW outlined her concerns about home-educated children, particularly the very small minority of

cases where children were vulnerable.

 The FM said that he supported the principle of children being seen and known by services. The issue was

how this was achieved - he would be prepared to support primary legislation and a register if this was

required. But this should only be done if the planned improvements via the database and statutory

guidance weren’t effective.

 If primary legislation and a register were eventually required, the FM said that the primary legislation

could in practice not be introduced until the next Assembly Term.

For me the most important aspect is children being seen and known by services, and I welcome your confirmation 

at that meeting that the government intends to take statutory measures to achieve that goal. The statutory 

guidance that comes out to consultation in 2019 must make this expectation clear in writing and set out the steps 

that local authorities must take to achieve this. A stated aim of the guidance should be that children can access 

their rights to be heard and to receive a suitable education. 

Please would you confirm that the proposals that are consulted upon will set out how the database and related 

work will ensure children are known about by local authorities and then seen? Please would you also confirm that 

CYPE(5)-33-18 – Papur i'w nodi 3  

Tudalen y pecyn 84

Eitem 4.3



 Comisiynydd Plant Cymru 
Children’s Commissioner for Wales 
Sally Holland 

 

 
 

the proposals consulted upon will be clear about what powers the proposals give to local authorities to enable them 

to maintain contact with children and their families, and to offer them the support that I understand will be included 

in the new arrangements? In order for the new statutory guidance to be successful, local authorities will need to 

be confident that they have enhanced means to achieve this in instances where families are refusing the authority 

access to speak with children.  

The work of the EHE Stakeholder group will be crucial to the success of these proposals in my view, and I would like 

your confirmation on how these points will be worked through closely with local authorities in particular, in setting 

up the arrangements for information sharing under the database.  There are statutory and societal expectations on 

local authorities to safeguard children living in their area and to support their well-being, but we all agree that this 

cannot be done if children are not known to them.  

As you will know I have maintained regular contact with ADSS, ADEW and the National Independent Safeguarding 

Board on this issue.  It is also an issue of significance to the Children, Young People and Education Committee.  For 

that reason I have copied them all in to this letter, and I would be grateful if you would include them in your reply 

please.   

The reason I have been pursuing this issue and considering formal use of my statutory powers at this point is that I 

do not want to be in a position next year where the proposals introduced do not meet the requirements that I 

believe are necessary, as do local authorities and safeguarding professionals. As you recognised in our recent 

meeting, should the database and statutory guidance not be effective in achieving those aims, further primary 

legislation will be inevitable.  Provided that I receive a clear written response to the questions I have posed above 

I am content to wait for the consultation in spring 2019 and not invoke my statutory powers. If possible, it would 

be helpful if I could have your written response before my appearance in front of the Children, Young People and 

Education Committee on 22 November, due to the keen interest that members have taken in this issue, or at the 

latest before you depart as First Minister.  I would also say at this point that I would expect the proposals to be 

introduced swiftly following the necessary consultation period, in order to maintain pace.  As we discussed, I am 

concerned that your government’s response to high-profile, tragic cases such as that of Dylan Seabridge has been 

slower than I and others would have expected. 

This area of work will remain a key priority of mine. Should I, at any time, become concerned about the contents of 

the consultation or the pace of change thereafter, I will again consider the commencement of a formal review of 

the Welsh Government’s exercise of its functions on this issue as a matter of urgency. 

As I have previously stated, my preference is always to work alongside the government where this is possible in 

order to secure the best outcomes for the children of Wales in the swiftest and most effective manner. I have 

continued to do this but reserve the right to review the government’s functions in relation to this matter should 

the proposals be unable to protect children in Wales experiencing their rights in full. 

I look forward to receiving your response.  

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 85



 Comisiynydd Plant Cymru 
Children’s Commissioner for Wales 
Sally Holland 

 

 
 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Professor Sally Holland 

 

cc.  Jenny Williams, President of ADSS 
 Aled Evans, Chair of ADEW 

Margaret Flynn and Keith Towler, Chair and Deputy Chair of the National Independent Safeguarding 
Board 
Lynne Neagle AM, Chair of the National Assembly for Wales’ Children, Young People and Education 
Committee 

 Karen Cornish, Welsh Government, Deputy Director, Children’s Branch 
 Albert Heaney, Welsh Government, Director, Social Services 
 Ruth Conway, Welsh Government, Deputy Director, Education 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 86


	Agenda
	2 Adroddiad Blynyddol Comisiynydd Plant Cymru 2017-18
	CYPE(5)-33-18 – Papur 1

	3 Ymchwiliad i statws Cymhwyster Bagloriaeth Cymru – sesiwn dystiolaeth 3
	CYPE(5)-33-18 – Papur 2 (Saesneg yn unig)

	4.1 Llythyr gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg a Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu Gydol Oes – gwybodaeth ychwanegol yn dilyn y cyfarfod ar 10 Hydref
	4.2 Llythyr gan y Cadeirydd at Ymgyrch Hanes Cymru - Dysgu Hanes Cymru yn y cwricwlwm newydd
	4.3 Llythyr gan Gomisiynydd Plant Cymru at y Prif Weinidog - Addysg yn y Cartref

